
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 4 February 2020

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 12 FEBRUARY 2020 AT 6.00 PM

THE FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, BENSON 
LANE, WALLINGFORD OX10 8BA

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Kate Gregory

Lorraine Hillier
Alexandrine Kantor
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Sarah Gray
Victoria Haval

Kellie Hinton
Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy

Caroline Newton
Anne-Marie Simpson
Alan Thompson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic

Public Document Pack



2

 

1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.



3

</AI8>

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

7 Recreation 
Field, Station 
Road, Cholsey  

To build a community Skate and 
Mini-wheel Park (as amended by 
change of address on 20 November 
2019 and revised Design and 
Access Statement received 14 
January 2020).

P19/S4030/O 5 - 14

8 Land off Old 
London Road, 
Wheatley  

Installation of a synchronous gas-
powered standby generation facility, 
ancillary infrastructure and 
equipment and access. As clarified 
by revised flood risk assessment 
received on 17 December 2019 and 
revised traffic figures received on 29 
January 2020. Installation of a 
synchronous gas-powered standby 
generation facility, ancillary 
infrastructure and equipment and 
access. As clarified by revised flood 
risk assessment received on 17 
December 2019 and revised traffic 
figures received on 29 January 
2020. Installation of a synchronous 
gas-powered standby generation 
facility, ancillary infrastructure and 
equipment and access. As clarified 
by revised flood risk assessment 
received on 17 December 2019 and 
revised traffic figures received on 29 
January 2020.

P19/S3220/FUL 15 - 40

9 Orchard Close 
Settlement 
Road, running 
west from T 
Junction and 
the Old Post 
Office, Britwell 
Salome, OX49 
5LH  

Installation of equestrian training 
mirrors and retention of temporary 
hard standing (as amended by 
additional plans and information 
received 29 May 2019 and 11 
October 2019, re-locating the 
entrance gate which will be installed 
using permitted development rights 
without planning permission and 
proposing landscaping).

P19/S0332/FUL 41 - 64



4

10 Land to the 
South of 
Foxhill Close, 
Playhatch  

Erection of two-storey four-bedroom 
detached house with associated car 
port and parking (updated flood risk 
assessment and site and street 
scene plans corrected to accurately 
reflect previously approved 
landscaping received 21st 
November 2019 and site plan 
updated to move hedge on north-
western boundary next to estate 
road, as shown on amended plan 
received 22nd January 2020).

P19/S2894/FUL 65 - 80



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S4030/O
APPLICATION TYPE OUTLINE
REGISTERED 5.11.2019
PARISH CHOLSEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Anne-Marie Simpson

Jane Murphy
APPLICANT Cholsey Parish Council
SITE Recreation Field, Station Road, Cholsey
PROPOSAL To build a community Skate and Mini-wheel Park. 

(As amended by change of address on 20 
November 2019 and revised Design and Access 
Statement received 14 January 2020).

OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee at the discretion of the Planning 

Manager, in the interest of openness and transparency, as the applicant is Cholsey 
Parish Council.
 

1.2 The application site is part of the recreation playing field sited to the north of Cholsey 
pavilion and north east of an existing football pitch. The playing field lies within the 
built-up limits of Cholsey village.

1.3 The site lies to the south of Cholsey Caravan park and west of residential properties in 
The Forty and north west of residential properties in Station Road. The site is not 
covered by any planning constraints.

1.4 The red site area shown on the submitted plan is some (650sqm) in area. At this time, 
the applicants have confirmed that the precise siting of the park is not known but is 
intended to be within the red site area shown on the submitted plans. If outline 
planning permission is granted for this application and it transpires, at the Reserved 
Matters stage that the siting of the proposed park is outside of the red site area, then 
a further application would be required to assess the different siting. 

1.5 A site location plan is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks outline planning permission to build a community skate park and 

mini-wheel park. All matters are reserved with details of siting, appearance, materials 
etc to be considered at the Reserved Matters stage. 

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the applications are attached as Appendix 
2. Full copies of he plans, and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Cholsey Parish Council – Approve

Sport England - No objection subject to conditions 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S4030/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

Leisure - The application is for a new skatepark and mini wheels track on the 
Recreation Ground at Station Road. With the aim of increasing sporting opportunities 
for young people within the village. The application is for outline planning permission as 
the design is being produced in consultation with young people, which is positive. 

The skatepark and wheels track are located 10m away from the adult football pitch on 
site. The Football Association has confirmed the run off for adult football pitches is 3m 
which the application complies with. 

However, there are concerns over a new skatepark on the playing fields impacting the 
quality of the football pitch, as usually football pitches are rotated every couple of years 
to reduce wear and tear over the goal mouth and reduce pitch maintenance costs. 

The South Oxfordshire Playing Pitch Strategy (December 2018) recognises that there 
are Football pitches on site. 

Although the field is used as a recreational field at the present time, Cholsey Football 
Club have confirmed they have plans to move back to the site for September 2020, and 
Cholsey Parish Council have confirmed the changing rooms will be made available for 
use then as well. 

Recommendations 
The Leisure Team strongly recommend that the parish council complete an FA Pitch 
Improvement Plan to ascertain an up to date improvement and maintenance plan for 
the playing pitches. This will also provide supporting evidence for any application for 
s106 monies available and potential applications for an FA small grants scheme. 

This would support towards ensuring the quality of the existing pitches and provide 
future maintenance required for the up keep of the pitches to a condition that is fit for 
purpose. 

Sport England are a statutory consultee for this application, and we would support their 
recommendations and guidance on this development. 

Env. Protection Team (noise) – No objection

OCC (Highways) – No objection subject to condition requiring Construction Traffic 
Management Plan. 

Neighbour Object (9) Summarised
 Agree in principle to the facility but in wrong location - should be closer to 

existing recreational facilities such as swings etc and further away from houses
 Will be too noisy – should be located beyond the brook
 Facility will potentially attract a large number of visitors particularly in the 

summer months when there are longer daylight hours.
 Will be used for skating, biking and blading and will attract people from outside 

Cholsey.
 Hard surface will generate noise in particular from skateboards.
 Insufficient parking at the pavilion. Cholsey already has a lack of parking with 

parking on Station Road making driving hazardous.
 Should be moved to the field behind the existing recreation ground to Jubilee 

field which is further away from residential properties.
 No additional parking proposed for this facility
 Lack of consultation over the location from the Parish Council

Page 6



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

 Other sites available which would not have such a negative impact on local 
residents

 At weekend in particular, parking is a real issue in this location already, the 
proposal will only exacerbate this problem.

 If permission is granted can noise mitigation measures be implemented such as 
use of materials of the park, landscaping, mounds etc?

 Concrete is an unsustainable material. Have other options been considered.
 The Design and Access Statement states works of a steering group but there 

are no minutes or records available on the parish website of how a skatepark 
represents the preference of the local community.

 As parent of two young children, I have never been approached by the Parish 
Council to ask what facilities I would like to see in the village.

 Misleading information within the application – incorrect address and size of the 
park.

 The development will result in accidents and fights
 There is a high likelihood that there will be drugs and alcohol present
 Does the use include the provision of toilets? If so, who will maintain them?
 A skate park is only mentioned once in paragraph 248 of the NP.
 Potentially unsafe entrance on Station Road for construction vehicles
 Steel ramps are notoriously loud. Landscaping and earthworks are an effective 

way of reducing noise
 The construction of the skate park requires a large volume of concrete which is 

not sustainable. More environmentally friendly alternatives should be considered 
such as BMX track. 

 Although supportive of the idea of a skatepark, I am concerned about its 
location and noise

Neighbour support (4) Summarised
 This is an amazing opportunity for Cholsey. I am delighted with the proposals 

and can’t wait for it to be built.
 A great facility for the community. It will give kids and adults hours of free fun in 

the outdoors 
 There is an overdue requirement for activities for local children and teenagers. A 

park if for the whole community and teenagers need after school activities as 
much as primary children.

 A great addition to facilities in the village for the young and adults of the village. 
Keen to see the park used to its full potential. 

Crime prevention Design Advisor Thames Valley Police
Given the intended uses of the facility, I advise that the applicants simply continue to 
engage with the intended user group and local community to ensure that any facility 
provided meets expectations, is fit for purpose and assists with community cohesion 
whilst discouraging anti-social behaviour.

If this advice is followed, I believe it would help the proposals meet the requirements of:

The National Planning Policy Framework 2018, Section 12 ‘Achieving well-designed 
places’, point 127 (part f), which states that; ‘Planning policies and decisions should 
ensure that developments… create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible… and 
where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or 
community cohesion and resilience.

Page 7



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 None relevant

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan (CNP)

CNP H1a – recreational facilities for young children and teenagers
CNP H5 – Contributed to improving provision for recreation for teenagers
CNP E1 – Proposal supported where it would promote small scale economic growth
CNP I1 – Contributions to facilities
CNP I15 – No loss of essential community facilities
CNP 16 – proposals which improve facilities at the recreation ground will be supported.
Objective106 – Improve facilities at the recreation ground, skate park and meeting 
shelter are mentioned.
 

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR3  -  Community facilities and rural transport
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
CF1  -  Protection of recreational or essential community facilities
CF2  -  Provision of additional community facilities
D1  -  Principles of good design
EP2 - Adverse affect by noise and vibration 
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
R1 -  outdoor sport provision 
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The key issues to be considered in assessing this proposal are:

 Whether the principle of the development is acceptable
 Impact on existing football pitch
 Impact on neighbours
 Parking provision
 Other issues
 

6.2 Principle
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires local 
planning authorities to make planning decisions in accordance with policies in their 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance, 
the development plan consists of the Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan, the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy and saved policies in the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2011.

6.3 Policy CNP I6 of the Cholsey Neighbourhood Plan seeks to improve facilities at the 
recreation ground. Within objective 106 of the NP, specific reference is made to 
improving these facilities by the provision of a skate park and/or a meeting shelter. 
Also, the need to improve existing and provide additional recreation facilities is a stated 
objective of the housing policies of the CNP. As such, the principle of providing a skate 
park within the recreation ground is supported by the CNP.

6.4 Policy CSR3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy seeks to encourage the provision 
of facilities and services in rural areas.

6.5 Under SOLP Policy R1 proposals for new facilities for outdoor sport to serve local needs 
will be permitted in or adjacent to settlements and under Policy R4, proposals related to 
the promotion of outdoor sport in the countryside will be permitted; both policies are 
subject to certain impact-based criteria. Cholsey Parish Council has identified a need for 
a skate-park. Sport England have confirmed that they do not object to the proposal 
subject to conditions. 

6.6 Policy CF2 of the SOLP seeks to support the provision of additional community facilities 
within settlements provided that there is no overriding amenity, environmental or traffic 
objections or conflict with other policies within this plan. 

6.7 Advice within the NPPF is supportive of providing recreation facilities. In paragraph 91 it 
encourages the provision of social and recreational facilities within the community whilst 
guarding against the loss of valued facilities and services. Paragraph 96 emphasises 
the importance of access to high quality opens spaces and opportunities for sport and 
physical activity and how this is important for health and well-being.

6.8 Having regard to the abovementioned policies it is my opinion that the principle of the 
development is acceptable.

6.9 Impact on the existing football pitch
The council’s Leisure team have been consulted on this application. They have 
commented that this proposal has the potential to encroach/ affect an existing football 
pitch which lies immediately adjacent to the proposed site of the skate park and mini-
wheels site. The football pitch is used regularly by Cholsey youth teams and adult team. 

Page 9



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

Paragraph 97 of the NPPF advises against the loss of recreational buildings and 
playing fields. Policy CF1 of the SOLP also seeks to resist the loss of recreational 
facility or an essential community facility. 

6.10 Consultation with Sport England (SE) is a statutory requirement where any proposal 
has the potential to prejudice the use or leads to the loss of use of land being used as a 
playing field or land which has been used as a playing field in the last five years. Given 
the Leisure team’s concern, SE have been consulted on this application.

SE have considered this application in light of National Planning Policy Framework 
(paragraph 97) and against its own playing fields policy which states:

“Sport England will oppose the granting of planning permission for any development 
which would lead to the loss of, or would prejudice the use of:

 All or any part of a playing field, or
 Land which has been used as a playing field and remains undeveloped, or
 Land allocated for use as a playing field

Unless, in the judgment of Sport England, the development as a whole meets with one 
or more of five specific exceptions.”

6.11 SE have consulted the Football Association (FA) who confirmed that the existing 
football pitch is regularly used as a home venue for Cholsey Bluebirds (Youth Charter 
Standard Club -15 teams) and Cholsey United (Adult Club-1 team). They have 
expressed concern that whilst the proposal does not impact on the location of the 
current pitch it does restrict the potential to move the pitch, which is often advisable to 
reduce the impact on the most used areas (e.g goalmouths). In order to ensure that this 
proposal does not impact on the quality of pitches the FA have requested that the site 
has a Pitch Improvement Programme report, that details the current quality of the site 
and that these pitches work towards meeting the “good” standard pitch rating.
  

6.12 SE have confirmed that they share the Football Association’s concern that if 
maintenance is not addressed the proposed community skate and mini-wheel park will 
adversely impact on the pitch quality. They do, however believe that it can be dealt with 
by the following conditions:

1. No development shall commence until a dimensioned drawing showing the 
location of the proposed community skate and mini-wheel park in relation to the 
existing football pitch have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority [after consultation with Sport England]. The community 
skate and mini-wheel park shall not be located other than in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable

2. Before community skate and mini-wheel park is brought into use, a 
Management and Maintenance Scheme for the existing football pitch including 
management responsibilities, a maintenance schedule and a mechanism for 
review shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority after consultation with Sport England. The measures set out in the 
approved scheme shall be complied with in full, with effect from commencement 
of use of the community skate and mini-wheel park. 

Reason: To ensure that a new facility does not negatively impact on the existing 
football pitch and to ensure sufficient benefit of the development to sport

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

6.13 As such, SE are satisfied, subject to the recommended conditions, that the proposed 
skate/mini wheels park will not result in the prejudice the use of the existing football 
pitch.

6.14 Impact on neighbours
Policy EP2 of the SOLP seeks to resist any proposal which by reason of noise or 
vibrations have an adverse effect on existing or proposed occupiers, unless effective 
mitigation measures are implemented.

6.15 Many of the objections received relate to concerns from neighbours that the proposed 
skate/mini wheels park will result in unacceptable levels of noise. The council’s 
Environmental Protection team (EP) have been consulted in relation to the potential for 
noise from this proposed development. 

6.16 EP have confirmed that there is no objection to the proposal on noise grounds.
Considering the distances involved in this application, it would be difficult to justify noise 
conditions as a skatepark is not in of itself a noisy development in relation to the 
background noise level, particularly as the land is used as a recreation ground 
currently. I appreciate that the residents will experience a change in amenity but for us 
to consider this sort of noise unreasonable it would have to be quite significant and 
therefore not the use of the land as intended e.g. music being played on site rather than 
being used for sporting activities. I would expect that a noise assessment would support 
the above.

6.17 This application is in outline only with all matters to be reserved. At the Reserved 
Matters it would be essential to provide a noise assessment at that stage once the 
siting of the skate park has been determined. At this stage, there is no objection to this 
proposal on noise grounds at this stage. 

6.18 Parking provision/access
Policy T1 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that new development will provide a safe and 
convenient access to the highway network. Policy T2 seeks to ensure that parking is 
provided for all new development in accordance with the council’s maximum parking 
standards.
 

6.19 Some of the letters of objection to this proposal from local residents include the concern 
that there is insufficient parking at the recreation ground to accommodate this proposal, 
which they consider will attract people from outside the area. 

6.20 There is a car park at the front of Cholsey pavilion. This gets busy at times when 
football matches are being played or when there are events at the pavilion. The County 
Highway Authority have not raised any objection to this proposal on highway grounds 
subject to a condition requiring a Construction Management Plan to be submitted. 

6.21 Whilst your officers acknowledge that this new facility may attract some additional cars 
to the site, it is not anticipated that this would be significant and not sufficient to warrant 
a refusal of planning permission on insufficient parking. 

6.22 Other issues
CIL
This proposal is not CIL liable.

Page 11



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal is in outline with all matters to be considered at this stage. The principle of 

providing the facility is acceptable given the advice within the NPPF and the 
Development Plan policies in relation to providing enhanced recreational facilities. 
Subject to the conditions recommended by Sport England, there is no objection to the 
proposed siting of this facility. At the Reserved Matters Stage, a noise assessment will 
be required to fully assess the impact of this proposal on neighbours. The highway 
authority does not object to the proposal on parking or highway grounds. Details of 
existing parking will be provided and assessed again at the Reserved Matters stage. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That outline planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement - Outline Planning Permission
2: Construction Management Plan to be submitted.
3: Detailed drawing showing location of the skate/mini park in relation to the  
    existing football pitch to be submitted and approved 
4: Management and maintenance scheme to be submitted and approved.

Author:         Kim Gould
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 12



Appendix 1

Page 13

Agenda Item 7P19/S4030/O



SITE LOCATION PLAN  
AREA 5 HA

SCALE  1:1250 on A4 
CENTRE COORDINATES: 458579, 186534 

Supplied by Streetwise Maps Ltd 
www.streetwise.net 

Licence No: 100047474 
22/10/2019 16:34:54 

Appendix 2

Page 14



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S3220/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 14.10.2019
PARISH WHEATLEY
WARD MEMBER(S) Alexandrine Kantor
APPLICANT Balance Power Projects Limited
SITE Land Off Old London Road, Wheatley
PROPOSAL Installation of a synchronous gas-powered standby 

generation facility, ancillary infrastructure and 
equipment and access. As clarified by revised flood 
risk assessment received on 17 December 2019 
and revised traffic figures received on 29 January 
2020.

OFFICER Sharon Crawford

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The site lies to the north east of Wheatley village, adjacent to the A40. The land is low 

lying and relatively flat; it is currently an open field that forms part of The Wheatley 
Farm Shop site. The total site area is some 0.41 in size, with the proposed site 
compound forming 0.19ha of this area.

The land is classified as grade 4 agricultural land which suffers limitations that restrict 
the range and/or yield of crops to be grown. This land is mainly suited to grass with 
occasional arable crops – the yields of which are variable.

A small part of the eastern edge of the proposed compound lies within flood zone 2, 
just touching onto flood zone 3. The proposed access crosses flood zone 2 and 3 
land. An overhead electricity line passes 110 m to the west of the proposed facility. 
The whole site lies within the Oxford Green Belt. Access would be gained to the site 
through The Wheatley Farm Shop site.

1.2 Planning permission was granted on the 12 July 2016 for a gas peaking development 
immediately to the north of the current site (planning ref: P16/S1752/FUL). A further 
planning permission was granted on the 24 August 2018 for a battery storage scheme 
on the same footprint as planning ref. P16/S1752/FUL, as an alternative to the gas 
project (planning ref: P18/S2181/FUL).

1.3 The site identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the installation of a synchronous gas-

powered standby generation facility with a capacity of 7MW. Ancillary infrastructure, 
equipment and access are also included in the application. The development would be 
for a period of 25 years after which it would be decommissioned.

2.2 The proposal produces energy by running gas through engines which are housed 
within the site. The process involves the delivery of Natural Gas to the generators on 
site via a connection to the local gas distribution network. The main function of the 
proposed development is to provide electrical generation into the local distributive 
network when called upon by the National Grid. Times of generation will match times of 
peak demand within the local network and generation can be controlled remotely.

Page 15

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S3220/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

2.3 The application includes the following generation and ancillary infrastructure;
 4no. generators
 Distribution Network Operator (DNO) room
 Switchroom
 Welfare cabin
 Gas skid
 Lube oil tanks
 Transformers (if required)

2.4 The generator containers are approximately 16m long by 3.2m wide and 3.3m in height 
with the roof mounted plant and exhaust flue stack increasing this height to 5.5m and 
6.5m (above ground level) respectively. The generators will have the appearance of a 
standard shipping container in keeping and will be coloured green.

2.5 The site and plant will be connected to the local 11kV local distribution network and 
natural gas pipeline, 275m south west and 230m south respectively.

2.6 Security fencing will be installed around the boundary of the consisting of a 2.4m high 
palisade security fence and gates. Building mounted CCTV cameras will also be 
installed around the site to provide 24/7 security of the plant. There is no security 
floodlighting proposed, however a task orientated emergency light above the door to 
the metered substation operated may be required on a Passive infrared Sensor (PIR) 
system with manual override.

2.7 Access will be from Old London Road through the area of hardstanding associated with 
Wheatley Farm Shop. The existing access from Old London Road will not require any 
upgrades to facilitate the development. A new gravelled access road will however be 
constructed from the existing area of hardstanding to facilitate access to and from the 
site.

2.8 The proposed development once completed and operational will require minimal site 
visits by operations and maintenance staff using cars or vans (4-5 vehicle movements 
per week).

2.9 The plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2.  Full copies of the 
supporting documentation and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1 Wheatley 
Parish Council 

Object 
 NPPF – Inappropriate development in the Green Belt
 Amenity considerations 

o Noise
o Air quality

3.2 Drainage No objection subject to condition.

CPRE The application affects Holton footpaths Nos. 9 & 11. We wish to 
object to this application on public rights of way grounds as currently 
both paths cross fields with an essentially rural appearance separating 
London Road from the A40 with trees largely screening the fields from 

Page 16

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

both roads and with these fields being close to the River Thame, 
swans and other wildlife may be encountered. 

The introduction of such development into this setting, which would be 
overlooked from both footpaths, would therefore greatly detract from 
the enjoyment to be derived from using these footpaths which provide 
walkers with an escape route from the built-up area into open 
countryside, while the fact that the site’s vehicular access would cross 
FP11 would further detract from its scenic value.

OCC 
Countryside 
Access

It is welcomed that the existence of a public right of way (Holton 
Footpath 11) has been recognised. Pleased to see that the footpath 
will remain open during construction of the access track and that 
measures will be put in place to ensure the safety of users.

If safe and convenient public access cannot be maintained then the 
footpath will need to be closed by Temporary Traffic Regulation Order 
(12 weeks notice required). A temporary alternative route will be 
required.

SGN Plant 
Protection 
team

Standing advice on development near to plant equipment.

National Grid 
Plant 
Protection

Standing advice on development near to plant equipment.

4.0 RELEVANT RECENT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S2181/FUL - Approved (24/08/2018)

Proposed temporary installation of an energy storage facility together with associated 
works such as a new gravel track. (Alternative proposal to planning permission ref. 
P16/S1752/FUL). As clarified by flood risk assessment received on 1 August 2018.

P16/S1752/FUL - Approved (12/07/2016)
Proposed temporary installation of a short term operation reserve (STOR) together with 
associated works such as a new gravel track and gas connection.

P15/S2742/FUL - Approved (30/10/2015)
Proposed new dwelling (Log cabin style) to replace existing dwelling. Red edged site 
area as amended by drawing no 6 received on 9 October 2015.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEM1  -  Supporting a successful economy
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CSG1   -  Green infrastructure
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM1  -  Transport
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ1  -  Renewable energy

Page 17

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2181/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1752/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S2742/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

CSQ3  -  Design

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP3  -  Adverse affect by external lighting
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained

5.3 Other relevant documents.
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Neighbourhood Plan policies;
Wheatley Parish Council are preparing a Neighbourhood Plan. The Parish Council ran 
the statutory pre-submission consultation on the draft plan from 6 September to 18 
October 2019. The consultation exercise provided an opportunity to comment on the 
version of the plan that will be submitted for examination. An independent examiner has 
been appointed and he has asked for clarification on a number of points. As the plan 
remains at a pre-examination draft stage only limited weight can be given to it in this 
planning assessment.

Relevant emerging Wheatley Neighbourhood Plan Policies;
H1 – Design and Character principles
H2 – Landscape character
P1 – Parking provision
T1 – Impact on Road Network
E1 – Supporting Wheatley’s economy
EN1 – Biodiversity
DQS1 – Individual and community renewable energy projects

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011-2034
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 

On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan holds no 
weight at present.

Page 18



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
The South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
The National Policy Statement for Energy (EN- 1) – July 2011
IPPC report on Global warming - http://www.ipcc.ch/report/sr15/
UK Industrial Strategy - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-industrial-
strategy-a-leading-destination-to-invest-and-grow
Government commitment to Energy Investment portfolio- 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/5-billion-of-energy-investment-projects-
announced-as-theboard-of-trade-meets-in-wales

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

Where development conflicts with the Development Plan planning permission should be 
refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Where the development plan 
is silent on a particular matter or specifically directs assessment in line with national 
planning policy the development will be assessed against the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). 

In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012 
and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP).

The main issues in the consideration of this application are;
 Background
 The principle
 Green Belt issues/special circumstances
 Landscape and visual impact
 Ecology/ impact on trees
 Loss of agricultural land
 Impact on footpath
 Neighbour impact
 Highway issues
 Flooding issues
 Pre-commencement conditions
 Other issues
 CIL

6.2 Background. The UN Climate Change Conference in Paris 2015 agreed that to limit 
significant impacts resulting from global warming, the amount of global warming would 
need to be limited to a global increase of 1.5 degrees C. In response to this, the 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has published a report (6 October 

Page 19

http://www.ipcc.ch/report/sr15/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-industrial-strategy-a-leading-destination-to-invest-and-grow
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-industrial-strategy-a-leading-destination-to-invest-and-grow
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/5-billion-of-energy-investment-projects-announced-as-theboard-of-trade-meets-in-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/5-billion-of-energy-investment-projects-announced-as-theboard-of-trade-meets-in-wales


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

2018), to establish the rapid and far-reaching changes which are required to meet this 
target. In the report the IPCC has stated that, amongst other significant transitions, a 
total share of 97% of power will be required to be generated from renewables by 2050. 

The UK’s commitment to the 2015 Paris Agreement and its long-term objective of a 
2050 decarbonised economy makes the transition to a decarbonised energy system 
essential. In response, the Government published a Clean Growth Strategy in October 
2017 focussing on growing national income whilst ensuring cutting greenhouse gas 
emissions. The strategy recognises that the means by which energy is generated in the 
UK is changing and that complementary mechanisms such as energy storage will play 
a vital future role.

Combined with the phased closure of large-scale centralised fossil fuel and older 
nuclear power stations, we are seeing the development of widespread smaller scale 
decentralised generation with an increasing contribution to the UK generation mix from 
intermittent renewable energy generators.

The demand for electricity is also changing with energy management technologies and 
smart metering systems helping to reduce and control energy demand and use. There 
is also greater demand linked to the desire to move to electrified transport.
These changes to the supply and demand for electricity create new challenges for 
National Grid. To operate the electricity system, generation and demand must be 
balanced on a second by second basis.

National Grid is using new tools to manage a system that increasingly relies on 
intermittent sources of energy, such as wind and solar, in addition to more predictable 
generation from power stations. This core challenge is recognised at the heart of the 
UK government’s recent Industrial Strategy which states that ‘A national electricity grid 
was a great British technical achievement. Now we are setting ourselves the challenge 
of remodelling it so it can handle many different sources of clean energy, and use new 
technologies to store energy and manage demand.’

The proposed development for a synchronous gas-powered standby generation facility 
at Wheatley will directly assist National Grid in balancing the supply and demand of 
energy.

The proposed development will sit alongside the southern boundary of the consented 
battery storage scheme. The principle of this form of development has therefore already 
been established with very special circumstances demonstrated this form of 
development within the Green Belt.

6.3 The principle of development. The overarching National Policy Statement (NPS) for 
Energy (NPS EN-1) is part of a suite of NPSs issued by the Secretary of State for 
Energy and Climate Change. It sets out the government’s policy for delivery of major 
energy infrastructure.

Paragraph 2.20 of EN-1 notes that it is critical that the UK continues to have a secure 
and reliable supply of electricity as we transition to a low carbon economy. It is noted 
that to manage the risks to achieving security of supply we need sufficient electricity 
capacity to meet demand at all times and that electricity demand must be 
simultaneously and continuously met by its supply.

Paragraph 3.7.2 of EN-1 states that both demand and supply of electricity will increase 
in the coming decades and that existing transmission networks will have to evolve and 
adapt to handle increases in demand. Paragraph 3.7.4 states that new electricity 

Page 20



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

infrastructure projects will add to the reliability of the national energy supply and provide 
crucial national benefits which are shared by all users of the system. Paragraph 3.7.10 
develops this point noting that there is an “urgent need for new electricity transmission 
and distribution infrastructure to be provided”.

The National Policy Statement on Electricity Networks Infrastructure (EN-5) paragraph 
2.2 states that: “The general location of electricity network projects is often determined 
by the location, or anticipated location, of a particular generating station and the 
existing network infrastructure taking electricity to centres of energy use. This gives a 
locationally specific beginning and end to a line.”

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s 
commitment to the provision of sustainable energy solutions in the planning system – 
supporting the delivery of sustainable energy solutions is central to the economic, social 
and environmental dimensions of sustainable development (paragraphs149 - 154). 

Paragraph 149 advises that Local Planning authorities should adopt proactive 
strategies to mitigate and adapt to climate change, in line with the objectives and 
provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008. (The Climate Change Act 2008 commits 
the UK to an 80% reduction in greenhouse gases by 2050 and a 34% reduction by 
2020, based on 1990 levels).

Paragraph 151 of the NPPF states that to help increase the use and supply of 
Renewable, low carbon energy and heat, plans should: - 

a) provide a positive strategy for energy from these sources, that maximises the
potential for suitable development, while ensuring that adverse impacts are
addressed satisfactorily (including cumulative landscape and visual impacts);

b) consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy
sources, and supporting infrastructure, where this would help secure their
development; and

c) identify opportunities for development to draw its energy supply from
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply systems and for co-
locating potential heat customers and suppliers.

The NPPF adds at paragraph 154, that in determining applications, applicants should 
not be required to demonstrate the overall need for low carbon energy and recognises 
that even small-scale projects provide a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse 
gas (GHG) emissions. Applications should be approved if the impacts are (or can be 
made) acceptable. 

The overarching National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) was written prior to any 
viable method of storing electricity was developed, and therefore energy storage/ 
standby energy generation is not considered directly in the statement. However, the 
principles which support energy storage/ standby generation are considered, and 
therefore EN-1 is applicable to this development. 

Paragraph 3.3.11 states that ‘…the more renewable energy generating capacity we 
have the more generation capacity we will require overall, to provide back-up at times 
when the availability of intermittent renewable sources is low. If fossil fuel plant remains 
the most cost effective means of providing such back-up, particularly at short notice, it 
is possible that even when the UK’s electricity supply is almost entirely decarbonised 
we may still need fossil fuel power stations for short periods when renewable output is 
too low to meet demand…’

Page 21



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

Paragraph 3.3.12 states that ‘…it is therefore likely that increasing reliance on 
renewables will mean that we need more total electricity capacity than we have now, 
with a larger proportion being built only or mainly to preform back-up functions.’

Paragraph 3.3.31 states that ‘The Government…still envisages back up capacity being 
necessary to ensure security of supply until other storage technologies reach maturity.’ 
EN-1 highlights the importance of back up capacity to support the transition towards 
renewable energy. As such, the development is consistent with policy statement EN1.

Policy CSQ1 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy supports the NPPF as 
follows;

Renewable and decentralised energy generation schemes provide a valuable source of 
green energy for both existing and new development that contributes towards reducing 
CO2 emissions. 

The proposed Wheatley synchronous gas-powered standby generation facility will 
provide the following benefits: 

 It will help National Grid, the System Operator, to manage the electricity 
transmission system and to respond to the increasing amount of zero-carbon 
renewable energy that is supplying the transmission network.

 It is to be located in close  proximity to gas and electricity connections, this 
minimises connection costs (passed on to consumers), electrical losses (losses 
being a function of length of connection) and the environmental effects of any 
longer-distance connection (e.g. overhead line connection or cabling cross-
country).

I consider the proposal to be in accordance with the principles of proper planning and 
sustainable development. In this case, it is my view that the proposal will meet the 
criteria of Policy CSQ1. In addition, the council has recently announced that it is re-
assessing how it deals with the Climate Change Emergency wanting more recognition 
of the key and statutory importance under the Climate Change Act 2008 and the 
associated objective of “zero carbon by 2050”. This proposal will directly respond to this 
objective.

6.4 Green Belt issues. The NPPF attaches great importance to Green Belts. The intention 
of Green Belt policy around the built-up area of Oxford, is to keep land permanently 
open and severely restrict development. Policy CSEN2 of SOCS and saved policy GB4 
of SOLP support the Green Belt aims of the NPPF

The purposes of the Green Belt are to: 
• preserve the special character and landscape setting of Oxford 
• check the growth of Oxford and prevent ribbon development and urban sprawl 
• prevent the coalescence of settlements 
• assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment 
• assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 
   urban land. 

The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 

Page 22



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

permanently open – the most important attribute of Green Belts is their openness. It is 
important to note that whilst the Green Belt contains areas of attractive landscape, the 
quality of the landscape is not relevant to the inclusion of land in the Green Belt or its 
continued protection. It is the openness of land that is important. 

To protect openness there is a general presumption against inappropriate 
development. Paragraph 143 states that inappropriate development is by definition 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. 

Paragraph 144 states that the when local authorities are considering planning 
applications substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. It goes 
on to say that ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the 
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed 
by other considerations.

The assessment of the impact to the Green Belt is therefore a stepped process in that;
-  A proposal needs to be considered in terms of whether the development is 

inappropriate and then;
- Whether it harms the openness of the Green Belt. 

If a development conflicts with either assessment then consideration has to be given as 
to whether there are any ‘very special circumstances’ that would outweigh this harm. 

6.5 Is the proposal inappropriate?
Paragraph 145 advises that a local planning authority should regard the construction of 
new buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for a number of 
strictly defined purposes. Paragraph 146 goes on to define other forms of development 
that are not inappropriate.

Paragraph 147 specifically refers to proposals for renewable energy projects stating 
that when located in the Green Belt, elements of many renewable energy projects will
comprise inappropriate development. It goes on to say that in such cases developers 
will need to demonstrate very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such 
very special circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits associated
with increased production of energy from renewable sources.

However, the decision of the Secretary of State on an appeal concerning a large solar 
farm in Suffolk (APP/T3535/A/13/2193543), and the letter of 16 October 2013 by the 
Minister of State at the Department of Energy and Climate Change, (The Rt Hon 
Gregory Barker MP), has concluded that “renewable energy projects are not prohibited 
outright in the Green Belt. It is, as ever, a matter of balancing any benefits they would 
bring forward, against any harm they would cause”. But LPAs should ensure that 
substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt (APP/CS105/A/13/2207532).  

In my view, the proposal is inappropriate development but is not prohibited outright and 
the planning balance will come into play depending on the special circumstances 
demonstrated and potential mitigation of landscape impacts by condition.

6.6 Does it harm openness?
Paragraph 133 of the NPPF tells us that openness is an essential characteristic of the 
Green Belt. Openness is generally defined as the absence of built form. This does not 
depend on visibility; even if a site is well screened the impact on openness is the same. 
As a man-made imposition on the landscape, the facility, fencing and infrastructure 

Page 23



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

would obviously reduce openness, and this would add to the harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness.

6.7 Special circumstances. Where development is inappropriate or when it harms 
openness, it is necessary to demonstrate that the harm by reason of inappropriateness 
is outweighed by other factors. Special circumstances may include the wider 
environmental benefits associated with low carbon energy solutions. In addition, any 
landscape impacts of the development need to be made acceptable by appropriate 
landscaping.

6.8 Applicant’s case for special circumstances. The special circumstances in this case 
are:

 it has been calculated that the development has the potential to deliver a carbon 
saving of 37.5% of CO2 per MWh1 generated (20% when compared to the 
average of the UK electricity grid) as they replace more centralised old and 
more polluting plants, which previously delivered this service. Low Carbon 
technologies are recognised as having benefits in reducing GHG emission to 
which para.154 of the NPPF affords significant weight even to small-scale 
projects, this also aligns with the direction taken within the Local Development 
Plan.

 The site will be decommissioned after 25 years, with all infrastructure removed 
from the site, and the site restored to its original condition;

 The site has to be located within close proximity to the gas and grid connection 
points. There are very few sites available and this site can offer a gas supply 
and electricity connection;

 The development does not contain any permanent buildings, and only provides 
small temporary ancillary structures such as the generators, a DNO station and 
private switchgear station housings and transformers and a perimeter fence;

 The site is well sited against the A40 and is well screened from the wider 
landscape, such that its impact on landscape openness is minimal;

 The development provides essential infrastructure to ensure security of supply;
 The development would constitute development required for the exploitation of 

sources of renewable energy; and
 If required, the site can be suitably screened through landscaping planting, this 

can be secured through a suitably worded planning condition.

In addition, it should be noted that planning permission was granted for a gas peaking 
development immediately to the north of the site (planning ref: P16/S1752/FUL). 
Subsequent permission was granted on the 24 August 2018 for a battery storage 
scheme on the same footprint as planning ref. P16/S1752/FUL, as an alternative to the 
gas project (planning ref: P18/S2181/FUL). The principle of this form of development 
has therefore already been established within this location with very special 
circumstances demonstrated for this form of development within the Green Belt.

In my view there are special circumstances that would justify this development and the 
landscape impacts of the development can be made acceptable by appropriate 
landscaping. Overall, I conclude that impact to the Green Belt is acceptable and 
complies with national and local planning policy.

6.9 Landscape and visual impact. Policy CSEN1 of SOCS requires that the district’s 
distinct landscape character and key features will be protected against inappropriate
development and where possible enhanced. Saved Policy G2 of SOLP aims to protect 
the district's countryside, settlements and environmental resources adverse 
developments. 

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

In addition, The South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment identifies the landscape 
characteristics of the district and gives guidelines for landscape enhancement, planning 
and development. The site falls within the Clay Vale character area; an area of lowland 
agricultural landscape. This site lies on the boundary between flat open farmland and 
undulating open vale, areas of medium scenic quality of high visual sensitivity and 
moderate sensitivity to change. It is a landscape identified to restore in order to 
strengthen the landscape structure which has been lost as a result of intensive arable 
farming (the loss of hedges etc).

Large scale development of any kind will be inappropriate within this essentially rural 
and unspoilt landscape. The landscape assessment makes it clear that open 
landscapes and elevated ground which is visually exposed is unsuitable for 
development unless closely associated with existing built form.

This proposed facility would sit adjacent to the A40 embankment, it is in a location that 
is not visually prominent and cannot be accessed by vehicle by the public. It is not in a 
sensitive location and has no special designation. The boundary of the site to the A40 
is already planted with a traditional and mature field hedge. There is also a stand of 
trees immediately to the west. With these measures, the facility will be effectively 
screened in short and long term views. Conditions are recommended to ensure that the 
site will be restored in line with agreed scheme after the 25 year period.

It is acknowledged that there will be some harm to the landscape but that the harm will 
be localised. Conditions are recommended to ensure that a landscaping scheme will be 
provided and the site will be restored in line with an agreed scheme after the 25 year 
period. In my view the localised harm can be adequately mitigated by these conditions.

6.10 Ecology. Paragraph 170(d) of the NPPF advises that planning decisions should 
minimise impacts on biodiversity. Paragraph 175(a) of the NPPF applies the mitigation 
hierarchy to planning decisions, where impacts on biodiversity should first be avoided 
where possible, then mitigated when impacts cannot be avoided and, as a last resort, 
adequately compensated for when mitigation is not sufficient. 

There is a strong presumption in favour of retaining areas designated for biodiversity 
interest, such as local wildlife sites, supported by development plan saved policies C6, 
C7 and C9 of the SOLP, and policy CSB1 of the SOCS. 

The proposal is situated predominantly on arable land of low ecological value. Habitats 
within the site are widespread in the surrounding area and considered to have 
negligible intrinsic ecological value and does not contain any features of ecological 
value which are considered to present a constraint to the proposal.

6.11 Loss of agricultural land. Government policy is that proposals for large scale ground-
mounted solar PV arrays etc should be focussed on previously developed land or 
brownfield sites, contaminated land or industrial land, provided it is not of high 
environmental quality.

There is less emphasis on the loss of agricultural land in the revised NPPF (2018). 
NPPF paragraph 171 (in footnote 53) only makes reference to a preference for using 
areas of poorer quality land rather than higher quality but only in the capacity or where 
there is significant development of agricultural land. 
In this case the site area is very small and would have a life span of 25 years and any 
planning permission would be for a temporary period of 25 years only. Once the 
operational period has expired conditions would require the re-instatement of the land.  

Page 25



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

The site comprises a small parcel of land (0.41ha) that was previously used for arable 
cultivation (barley and beans) as part of Wheatley Farm Shop. It is classified as grade 4 
agricultural land (poor). There is no objection to the loss of this land for agricultural 
development for the temporary period proposed.

6.13 Impact on footpath. Saved policy R8 of SOLP requires the retention and protection of 
the existing public rights-of-way network. Holton Footpath 11 will be crossed twice by 
the proposed vehicular access to this site. Holton Footpath 12 joins footpath 11 some 
70 metres to the west of the site to cross under the A40. 

The CPRE have objected to the application on the grounds that the proposal would be 
overlooked from both footpaths and would greatly detract from the enjoyment derived 
from using these footpaths which provide walkers with an escape route from the built-
up area into open countryside, while the fact that the site’s vehicular access would 
cross FP11 would further detract from its scenic value.

These concerns are noted and the harm to the landscape is acknowledged. However, 
the site will be largely screened from the west by a dense stand of trees and from the 
north by the A40, its embankment and mature hedging. Apart from views from the 
footpaths, the site is in a location that is not visually prominent and cannot be accessed 
by vehicle by the public. It is not in a sensitive location and has no special designation. 
Whilst there is some harm it is localised and will not be significantly different to the 
localised harm from the approved battery storage facility on the adjacent site.

The limited number of vehicle movements across the footpath associated with the site 
in operational mode through the farm shop car park is unlikely to have any negative 
affect on the public footpath. The installation of a surfaced track along the eastern side 
of the woodland, and across the line of the footpath, has the potential to interrupt use, 
however, an NB is proposed to be added to any decision to ensure that the footpath is 
not obstructed during construction etc should address this concern.

6.14

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

6.15 Neighbour impact. Saved policy EP2 of SOLP aims to protect neighbours from noise 
or vibrations associated with development. The site is accessed off a private road that 
is gated and closed outside of normal working hours for the Wheatley Farm Shop. The 
nearest residential properties to the proposed facility are the those at Wheatley Farm 
Shop some 140 m to the south west and properties on the opposite side of London 
Road some 250m to the south west. 

A noise assessment by Inacoustic Limited is submitted with the application. The noise 
assessment details that peaking power generation plants are designed to cover 
potential energy shortages, supplying electricity to the National Grid when necessary. 
As such, they have a short-term operational nature, and they are more likely to operate 
during peak load hours only, when the demand for electricity is higher, but they have 
potential to operate at any time.

The development proposals comprise four gas engine-driven electricity-generating sets. 
The engines are proposed to be housed within purpose-built containers, as supplied by 
the manufacturer.

In terms of the operational profile of the site; such sites tend to operate for 
approximately 90 to 120 minutes at a time, with a spike in demand reportedly occurring 
between mid-afternoon to early evening. Therefore, the predicted noise would not be 
constant, as the whole purpose of the site is to provide backup energy generation, as 
grid demand dictates, resulting in noise impacts being periodic and of a short duration.
Importantly, night-time operation is typically rare and should only occur under an 
emergency “lights out” scenario, meaning that the night-time assessment covers a 
scenario, which is unlikely to be regularly experienced in reality. Notwithstanding this 
phenomenon, the Proposed Development would not constitute an adverse acoustic 
impact at the nearest noise-sensitive receptors, should night-time operation be 
required.

The assessment identifies that the Proposed Development will give rise to rating noise 
levels that are typically below the measured background sound level in the area, at the 
closest assessed residential receptor, thus giving rise to a Low Impact.
The assessment also identifies that no significant change in ambient sound level will be 
engendered as a result of the Proposed Development in its proposed and assessed 
form, at the closest residential receptors. Consequently, the assessment demonstrates 
that the Proposed Development will give rise to noise impacts that would be 
categorised as No Observed Adverse Effect Level (NOAEL) within the NPPG England 
guidance. As such, I consider that the proposal accords with saved Policy EP2 of the 
Development Plan.

6.16 Highways 
With respect to highway safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is as follows:

Development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe. 

The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to 
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact. 
Saved policies T1 and T2 of SOLP support the aims of the NPPF.

In this case, access to the proposed facility will be provided via the existing Wheatley 
Farm Shop access. 

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

A new track is proposed from the farm shop car park to the facility. The existing 
access from Old London Road will not require any upgrades to facilitate the 
development. A new gravelled access road will however be constructed from the 
existing area of hardstanding to facilitate access to and from the site.
Space is available on site for up to two cars or vans for operations and maintenance 
staff such that they can park off the public highway when visiting the site. The access 
gate to the compound has also been set back to allow vehicles to safely pull off the 
public highway.

The proposed development once completed and operational will require minimal site 
visits by operations and maintenance staff using cars or vans (4 - 5 vehicle 
movements per week). As such, once operational the additional traffic movements 
associated with the proposed development will be negligible on the local road network 
and I consider that the proposal accords with saved policies T1 and T2 of the 
Development Plan.

6.17 Flooding issues. The access road and a small part of the eastern edge of the site lies 
in flood zones 2 and 3.  All development proposals in such areas require a flood risk 
assessment. The NPPF technical advice on flooding lists appropriate uses in these 
areas as those that are within the water compatible, less vulnerable and more 
vulnerable uses set out in Table 2 (flood risk vulnerability table) of the advice. Power 
facilities are not specifically listed in the NPPF technical advice on flooding but seem to 
align with others in the less vulnerable use category – mostly those not involving a 
residential use. This category of application does not need to be referred to the 
Environment Agency and standing advice is given.

A Flood Risk Assessment was submitted with the application, but the Council’s 
drainage officer requested additional information. The FRA needed amending to 
include Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) flood levels to evaluate flood levels 
against the above ordnance datum (AOD) levels on site. A revised FRA was submitted 
with clarification on surface treatment and levels etc. The drainage officer now has no 
objection to the proposal subject to the addition of a drainage condition to secure a 
surface water drainage scheme. I consider the condition is reasonable and necessary 
to meet the NPPF para. 163 requirements for the use of sustainable drainage and flood 
resilience measures. 

6.18 Other issues.
Air Quality. Saved policy EP1 of SOLP aims to ensure that prevent pollution unless 
effective mitigation measures are implemented. 
The parish council have objected to the application on the grounds of impact on air 
quality. The site is not in an Air Quality Monitoring Area (AQMA) and the Oxfordshire Air 
Quality website currently rates Wheatley as an area of low pollution (as of 28 January 
2020). An Air Quality Assessment has been undertaken by Air Quality Consultants Ltd 
to assess any impact on the amenity of nearby sensitive receptors, residential 
properties and neighbours to the proposed development.

The assessment has demonstrated that the impacts in terms of annual mean nitrogen 
dioxide concentrations will be negligible at all local sensitive receptors. The contribution 
of the facility to hourly mean nitrogen dioxide concentrations has been shown to be 
below published screening criteria and thus insignificant. Impacts at local designated 
ecological sites have also been shown to be below published screening criteria and 
thus insignificant.

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

Overall, it is considered that the air quality effects associated with the proposed 
development will be ‘not significant’.

Once operational, the site would require compliance with the Medium Combustion Plant 
Directive (MCPD) which regulates pollutant emissions from combustion plant with a 
rated input between 1 and 50 megawatts (MWth). All Medium Combustion Plant are 
therefore required to meet the relevant emission limits set out within the Directive. So 
effectively, the site would not be able to operate without meeting the required levels of 
air quality.

6.19 Pre-commencement conditions. The applicant has agreed to all the pre-
commencement conditions requested as required by under The Town and Country 
Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018, Section 100ZA (6) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990(a).

6.20 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). This application is not CIL Liable. CIL is not 
payable on energy proposals.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 I recommend that planning permission is granted because the harm to the Green Belt 

by reason of inappropriateness is outweighed by very special circumstances primarily 
because it directly helps to address climate change by providing alternative power 
facilities. There is also precedent for allowing similar facilities on the adjacent site. The 
small level of localised harm to the landscape is outweighed by the energy benefits of 
the proposal and the landscape and ecology impacts can be mitigated by condition. 
The significant benefits of the scheme represent exceptional circumstances which 
override any localised harm to the Green Belt. The proposal represents sustainable 
development for a limited period of 25 years after which the site will be restored. As 
such the development accords with the Development Plan Policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the attached conditions;

1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Temporary Permissions 25 years
4 : Site restoration scheme shall be submitted
5 : Landscaping Scheme (trees and shrubs only)
6 : Provide turning Area & Car Parking in accordance with submitted details
7 : No building or raising of land levels
8: Surface water drainage works (details required)

Author:         Sharon Crawford
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31

Agenda Item 8P19/S3220/FUL

SAV_SHACRA
Typewriter
The Site

SAV_SHACRA_1
Typewriter
Footpaths

SAV_SHACRA_2
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_3
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_4
Arrow

SAV_SHACRA_5
Typewriter
Appendix 1



wheatley proposed site plan

plan

whtly-psp-001

a

pl
an
ni
ng1:500@a3

03 oct 19

notes
1. © Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 0100031673

2.© Balance Power Projects Limited 2019
3. Use figure dimensions only25m0m

P
age 32



Paladin fence shown 
is indicative only. 

Generators installed to specialists consultant 
details and specifications.

Height confirmed by AQ specialist. 
6.5m High free standing steel flues.
1No flue per generator.

65
00

DNO
Room

wheatley elevation A-A

elevation

whtly-el-001

a

pl
an
ni
ng1:100@a1

1st oct 19

Lube
tanks

notes
1. This drawing is the copyright of Balance Power Group Ltd
2. Use figure dimensions only

0m 10m

P
age 33

SAV_SHACRA_6
Typewriter
Site elevation

SAV_SHACRA_7
Typewriter
Appendix 2



transformer

elevation

Tr-01

a

pl
an
ni
ng1:50@a3

19th sep 19

P
age 34

SAV_SHACRA_8
Typewriter
Transformer plans

SAV_SHACRA_9
Typewriter
Appendix 2



DNO ROOM

elevation

DNO-01

a

pl
an
ni
ng1:100@a3

19th sep 19

170
0

6000 1700

56
0042

50

700

6000

6000

5600

1700700

7001700

8400

8400

1700

5600

4250

53
50

P
age 35

SAV_SHACRA_10
Typewriter
DNO room plans

SAV_SHACRA_11
Typewriter
Appendix 2



LOT-01

a

pl
an
ni
ng1:30@a3lube oil tank 

elevation 

 19th sep 2019

P
age 36

SAV_SHACRA_12
Typewriter
Lube oil tank details

SAV_SHACRA_13
Typewriter
Appendix 2



PALADIN FENCE

ELEVATION

pal-01

a

pl
an
ni
ng1:30@a3

19th Sep 19

P
age 37

SAV_SHACRA_14
Typewriter
Fencing details 

SAV_SHACRA_15
Typewriter
Appendix 2



switch room

elevation

sr-01

a

pl
an
ni
ng1:100@a3

19th sep 19

P
age 38

SAV_SHACRA_16
Typewriter
Switch room plans

SAV_SHACRA_17
Typewriter
Appendix 2



wc-01

a

pl
an
ni
ng1:80@a3welfare cabin 

elevation 

19th sep 2019

P
age 39

SAV_SHACRA_18
Typewriter
Welfare Cabin

SAV_SHACRA_19
Typewriter
Appendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0332/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 5.2.2019
PARISH BRITWELL SALOME
WARD MEMBER Anna Badcock
APPLICANT Mr and Mrs McConkey
SITE Orchard Close Settlement Road running west from T 

junction and the Old Post Office, Britwell Salome, 
OX49 5LH

PROPOSAL Installation of equestrian training mirrors and 
retention of temporary hard standing (as amended 
by additional plans and information received 29 May 
2019 and 11 October 2019 re-locating the entrance 
gate which will be installed using permitted 
development rights without planning permission and 
proposing landscaping).

OFFICER Victoria Clarke

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application is referred to the Planning Committee because the view of Britwell 

Salome Parish Council conflicts with the officer’s recommendation for approval.  

1.2 The application site lies on the edge of Britwell Salome and is shown at Appendix 1.  
The site consists of a paddock and riding arena and forms part of the extended 
garden area of residential property ‘Orchard Close’.  It has been used for the keeping 
and exercising of horses for a number of years.  Vehicular access to the paddock is 
via an existing field gate onto the road leading down from Britwell Hill and there is 
pedestrian access to the site from the rear of Orchard Close.

1.3 Despite its proximity to the built form of the village, the site is largely rural and open in 
character.  The site falls within Britwell Salome Conservation Area and the roadside 
edge of the paddock forms the boundary of the conservation area shown at Appendix 
2.  The site also lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

1.4 There are a number of listed buildings and structures in the vicinity of the site:
 Home Farmhouse Grade II, including Grade II listed stables, barn and 

attached 23m wall, barn and attached 15m wall, granary and wall. 
(approximately 70+ metres west/ north west the proposed development)

 Britwell House and attached walls and coach house Grade II* (approximately 
420 metres south west of the proposed development)

 Britwell Park garden walls Grade II (approximately 280 metres south west of 
the proposed development)

 Bartletts, The Old Post Office, April Cottage and Chiltern Cottage are all Grade 
II listed buildings located on the road parallel to the B4009 (approximately 40+ 
metres north of the proposed development)

Page 41

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0332/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 Amended plans have been received and the application seeks full planning permission 

for:
 Equestrian mirrors

o A galvanised steel frame to hold nine detachable equestrian training 
mirrors would be erected.  In total it would span a length of 20 metres 
and have a height of approximately 2.2 metres above the ground level, 
but 2.6 metres above the surface of the riding arena.  It would consist of 
seven horizontal mirrors and two vertical mirrors fixed to a galvanised 
metal frame.  The two end mirrored panels would be vertically arranged 
and would be 2.2 metres high and 1.2 metres wide.  The mirrored panels 
in between would be positioned horizontally and measure 2.5 metres 
wide by 1.2 metres in height and these would be fixed with a maximum 
height of 2.2 metres from the adjacent ground level.  Woven / hurdle 
fence panels with a height of 2.2 metres would be proposed behind 
(west side) the mirror structure.

 Hard standing 
o An area of approximately 260 square metres would be constructed with 

an MOT Type 1 hardcore subbase and topped with a buff self-binding 
gravel.

 Associated landscaping 
o a new beech hedge and fruit trees near to the site access 
o beech hedge and silver birch trees along a section of the western 

boundary of the site (adjacent to the proposed mirrors)
o an orchard of 13 fruit trees to the north of the existing riding arena.  
o The applicant has also indicated that additional planting will be added to 

the east of the riding arena but this is not indicated on the plan.

2.2 A replacement gate was initially proposed adjacent to the road but this has been 
omitted from the proposal because it is now proposed to be set back into the site and 
does not therefore require planning permission.

2.3 Copies of the current plans are provided at Appendix 3 whilst other documentation 
associated with the application can be viewed on the Council’s website: 
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF
=P19/S0161/FUL

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 First consultation - proposal:

 2.2m high equestrian mirrors 
(2.6.m above riding arena 
surface)

 hardstanding 
 1.8m high sliding gate

Later consultations - proposal:
 2.2m high equestrian mirrors 

(2.6.m above riding arena 
surface)

 hardstanding 
 hurdle fence to west of mirrors
 planting / landscaping

3.2 Britwell Salome Parish Council

First consultation: Object Later consultations: Object

Page 42

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S0161/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S0161/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

Mirrors would be a visual intrusion on the 
character of the conservation area and 
AONB.  

Size and reflective properties of the 
mirrors to the east and their visual impact 
is concerning.

High solid gate detrimental to rural 
character.

Hardstanding was previously allowed on a 
temporary basis and should have been 
removed. 

Concern that hardstanding may be used 
for storage and permanently parking 
vehicles / horse boxes to the detriment of 
the quiet enjoyment of the neighbouring 
property and harmful to character of the 
area.

Despite the amendments the proposal 
does not conserve or enhance this land 
within the AONB and Conservation Area. 

Disturbance and loss of quiet enjoyment 
for neighbouring properties caused by the 
use of the hardstanding. 

Request that bell-mouth of the access is 
grassed over to enhance visual 
appearance and reduce surface water run 
off.

3.2 Conservation Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) 

First consultation: Object

No direct physical impact to any 
designated heritage assets, but concerned 
proposal would result in harm to setting of 
listed buildings / contribution that this part 
of the conservation area makes to their 
significance. 

Open nature of the site and wider 
landscape is easily perceived and this is 
very much a part of the area’s character 
when viewed from the higher ground to the 
south-east.  The existing arena is visible 
from Britwell Hill as you travel towards the 
village.  

Many views to and from the village where 
the direct connection to the open 
countryside is an important feature of the 
character of the area and makes a positive 
contribution to the significance of the 
conservation area. 

Mirror structure would impact the views to 
and the experience of moving through the 
conservation area where a current clear 
view is possible across the paddock land 
behind Home Farm towards Britwell Hill. 

Later consultations: No strong views 

Woven fencing to the rear of mirrors will 
provide some softening of the panels in 
terms of impact on listed buildings, but 
they will remain an inconsistent structure 
in the open landscape which will not 
preserve or better reveal the nature of this 
part of the conservation area. 

I cannot say that it will have a completely 
neutral effect on the area and as such 
consider that it would therefore be harmful 
to the character and appearance of the 
area.  

You should be satisfied that there is a 
benefit to this if no further mitigation is 
possible in line with the tests of the NPPF.

Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

The mirrors would not be consistent with 
other structures and means of enclosure in 
the conservation area (e.g., barns, sheds, 
hedgerows, fences or estate railings).   
Their height and uncharacteristic nature 
would have a considerable visual impact 
and would constitute less-than-substantial 
harm to the designated heritage asset 
(conservation area) so officers should be 
satisfied that this is outweighed by public 
benefits.

Proposed gate would enclose the lane and 
have a negative impact on its character. 
This could be mitigated by setting it back 
and using planting to soften its visual 
impact.

No objection to hardstanding.

3.3 CPRE Oxfordshire 
First consultation: Object

Agree with comments made by the Parish 
Council regarding impact on the AONB.

Later consultations: Object

Design of gate unsuitable for rural area.

3.4 Ministry of Defence - Defence Infrastructure Organisation 

First consultation: No objection Later consultations: No objection

3.5 Watlington Parish Council (neighbouring parish council) - Object

First consultation: Object

Mirrors inappropriate in the proposed 
location and the net benefit would not 
outweigh the harm that such a 
development would bring.  

Gate would be inappropriate and out of 
keeping.

Later consultations: Object

Amendments do not address fundamental 
concerns but the impact of the mirrors 
could be mitigated by the use of some 
form of cover that could be drawn across 
the mirrors when they are not in use and 
that the installation of a roof above the 
mirrors could shield them from wider view 
and reduce the impact.

3.6 Neighbours – 26 consultees have objected to the application

First consultation: Objections

Harm to AONB and rural landscape 
character

 Inappropriate / unnecessary 
urbanisation / overdevelopment 
that is visually detrimental to the 
rural setting and landscape and 

Later consultations: Objections 

Proposed landscaping mitigation would fail 
to soften the effect and visual impact of 
the mirror structure.  

Proposed silver birch trees would be out of 
keeping with the natural appearance of the 

Page 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

fails to conserve or enhance the 
AONB 

 Out of character and will not 
enhance rural area / rural paddock 
in an AONB will appear more like a 
commercial equine centre.  

 Mirrors will be installed on an 
elevated area of ground and will be 
an eyesore / alien and visible from 
many aspects of the village and 
surrounding area (Britwell Hill, 
surrounding elevated countryside 
including Watlington Hill SSSI, and 
entering the village by the lane 
next to Priest’s House), and will 
negatively impact on the special 
qualities of the AONB.

 Historic five-bar field gate access 
will be changed in character by the 
hardstanding

 Visual impact of hardstanding and 
parked horse lorry / vehicles on the 
hardstanding will detract from the 
character of the area and scenic 
beauty.

 No need for hardstanding. Current 
hardstanding was permitted on 
temporary basis for construction of 
the riding arena and should be 
removed.  Tractors and field 
vehicles do not require 
hardstanding.

 Light pollution / reflective glare 
from mirror in early morning sun

 Cumulative impact of piecemeal 
planning applications would greatly 
impact the AONB and quiet 
enjoyment of neighbours’ homes 
and gardens / what was once a 
rural field is slowly being spoilt.

Harm to the Conservation Area
 Inappropriate and visually 

detrimental to Conservation Area / 
back of the mirrors will look out of 
place like a billboard 

 Hedges, bushes, trees and grass 
verges help to soften the views and 
reinforce the tranquil, rural feel in 
the Britwell Salome Conservation 
Area therefore the hardstanding 
should be removed in its entirety to 
the edge of the lane and the grass 
verge reinstated.

hedge line between Orchard Close and 
Home Farm.

Silver birches and apple trees would 
provide little screening in the summer and 
none in the winter.

Proposed hurdle fencing / backing to 
screen the mirror structure would unlikely 
withstand the wind and would need to be 
anchored with large metal structures. 

Screening / landscaping is not a principle 
that should be applied in an AONB / 
special characteristics of the AONB will be 
damaged whether or not the mirrors are 
visible. 

Impact of light pollution / reflective glare 
from mirrors on wildlife.

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

Harm to setting of listed buildings 
 Structure of mirrors will be harmful 

to setting of thirteen listed buildings 
and structures at Britwell House, 
Home Farm and Priest’s House

Highway safety issues 
 Risk associated with large vehicles 

accessing the site through the field 
access on a bend in the narrow 
lane used by walkers and cyclists.

 Dazzling / distraction of road users 
- particularly acute when the sun is 
low in the sky in the early hours of 
the morning and through the winter 
months.

Harm to neighbours and users of the 
countryside

 Loss of visual amenity of the 
AONB / will block view of the 
Chilterns

 Harm for community but no wider 
gain or public benefit

 No control over occasional use for 
parking / concern about permanent 
use of hardstanding for parking.

 Use of hardstanding adjacent to 
boundary with Fletcher’s will 
compromise the quiet enjoyment of 
garden and home.  No control over 
level of use of hardstanding for 
parking the large horsebox lorry. 
Loss of privacy from windows of 
high sided vehicle next to low 
boundary hedge.

 Increase in vehicular movements 
at access and air, light and noise 
pollution from headlights and 
engines, electric gate at anti-social 
hours

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S3892/DIS - Approved (07/01/2019)

Discharge of condition 4 - landscaping scheme on application ref. P18/S2962/HH 
(Extension of an outdoor riding arena for horses.)

P18/S2962/HH - Approved (30/10/2018)
Extension to outdoor riding arena for horses.

P13/S2924/NM - Approved (16/10/2013)
Non-material amendment to planning permission P13/S0982/FUL, to amend approved 
gate to an antique teak style.

Page 46

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S3892/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2962/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S2924/NM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

P13/S2201/DIS - Approved (31/07/2013)
Discharge of condition 5 and 6 - application ref. P13/S0982/FUL

P13/S0982/FUL - Approved (17/06/2013)
Widening  of existing domestic vehicular access and new gates.
Construction of a riding arena.
Widening of vehicular access to paddocks and new gates with temporary crushed 
concrete driveway to allow for riding arena works.

P94/N0249/LD - Approved (05/07/1994)
Use of the land for residential curtilage.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance 
'How to consider light within the planning system' 

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3 – Historic environment
CSB1 – Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSQ3  -  Design

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
C4 - Landscape setting of settlements
C6 - Biodiversity conservation 
C7 - Protection of designated sites
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
EP3 - Light pollution
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
R10 - Keeping of horses
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 - Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011-2034
On 10th October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034.  The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  This means that the emerging 
plan has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  This situation is likely to change over 
the coming weeks.  

5.5 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
Part 2, section 3 - Parking
Part 2, section 7 - Buildings and plots

5.6 Britwell Salome 
Britwell Salome is not currently progressing a neighbourhood plan.

Page 47

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S2201/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S0982/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P94/N0249/LD


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

5.7 The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2014-2019

The Chilterns Building Design Guide

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered are: 

1. Permitted development and the fallback position
2. The impact on the character and appearance of the site, and the Conservation 

Area
3. The impact on the setting of listed buildings
4. The impact on the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
5. The impact on neighbouring properties
6. The impact on highway safety
7. Impact on wildlife

6.2 Permitted development and the fallback position

Gate

The proposal has been amended so the proposed gate can be implemented without the 
need for planning permission using permitted development rights.  The gate is 
proposed to be repositioned further into the site, approximately 8 metres away from the 
road.  Officers are satisfied it would fall within the criteria of permitted development.  
The gate does not therefore require express planning permission and no longer forms 
part of this planning application.

6.3 Mirrors

Schedule 2, Part 2, Class A of the General Permitted Development Order (2015 as 
amended) permits the erection of a fence up to two metres in height provided it is not 
adjacent to a highway or within the curtilage of a listed building.  These rights apply 
within areas of outstanding natural beauty and conservation areas and there is no 
restriction on the type of materials used to construct the fence. 

6.4 The applicant has sought a legal opinion, attached at Appendix 4, to establish whether 
mirrored fence panels fixed between posts could be considered permitted development.  
In summary, the legal opinion states that the erection of ‘a gate, fence, wall or other 
means of enclosure’ is permitted development, subject to height and other restrictions.  
Such a fence must have some enclosing / separating function and mirrors could not 
simply be fixed to the existing post and rail fence because the structure is capable of 
providing enclosure without the mirrors.  The applicant’s Counsel concluded that a 
planning authority could lawfully decide a mirrored enclosure, for the purpose of 
providing a barrier (i.e., a means of separation and therefore enclosure) could be 
permitted development.  Officers concur with this view.

6.5 The proposed mirrors would be attached to, and distinct from, the fence structure and 
would be greater than the two-metre height threshold and therefore do require planning 
permission.  However, a two-metre high, mirrored fence could be erected on the site 
without the need for planning permission.  This is considered a valid and strong fallback 
position that should be given significant weight in the determination of this planning 
application.

Page 48



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

6.6 Impact on the character of the Conservation Area

Mirrors

The council’s conservation officer has raised concerns about the visual impact of the 
mirrored structure.  She considers it would be an inconsistent structure in the open 
landscape which will not preserve or better reveal the nature of this part of the 
conservation area.  She acknowledges the hurdle fencing will soften the impact of the 
mirrored structure but does not believe the proposal would have a completely neutral 
effect on the area.  However, Officers consider that the proposed mirrors and their 
supporting structure would not harm the character of the conservation area.  The 
proposed mirrors will be at the far end of the field, adjacent to a wooded area, and 
away from the built form of the village.  

6.7 Officers consider that the garden / paddock site as a whole appears distinct from and 
does not read as part of the conservation area, and in addition, the proposed mirrors 
would be positioned so they would not be overly prominent in the landscape.  They will 
be sited adjacent to and at 90 degrees to the existing wooded area, and there is a 
mature hedge along the roadside edge of the paddock.  

6.8 Temporary fence panels have been erected to illustrate where the proposed mirrors 
would sit on the site and to demonstrate the visibility of them from various points.  
Glimpsed views of the mirrors will be possible from Britwell Hill Road at the point of the 
field access, although the applicant intends to install the new access gate set further 
back into the site on higher ground with additional planting either side which will likely 
block views into the site from here.  The mirrors will also be visible at other points along 
the road from Britwell Hill but this would be at a distance of nearly 2 kilometres away 
and a significant section of the mirrors would be screened from view by the woodland.  

6.9 The rear of the mirrors will be visible from the village road linking the B4009 and Britwell 
Hill Road at a distance of approximately 125 metres to the north west of the site.  
Landscaping and woven / hurdle fencing would help assimilate it into the landscape.   
The hurdle fence would be erected behind the mirrored structure to screen it from views 
from the north west, the existing beech hedge along the western boundary of the site is 
proposed to be added to, and silver birch trees are also proposed along the western 
side of the site.   Officers consider this will assist with assimilating the development into 
the landscape and have therefore recommended a condition securing the proposed 
planting and hurdle fence.  

6.10 In Officers’ opinion, the mirrors and their supporting structure will form a relatively small 
feature in the wider conservation area.  The essentially open character of the 
conservation area will not be changed as a result of the mirrored structure and 
therefore the general character of the conservation area will not be harmed.    

6.11 The mirrored structure would be a feature consistent with the use of the site and will not 
therefore appear out of place in the context of the other equestrian activity on the site or 
the other fences, enclosures and outbuildings in the vicinity of the site.  Equestrian 
activities are common in rural areas and the proposed development would not be 
detrimental to the character of the site and this part of the conservation area.  

6.12 Hardstanding

The Conservation Officer has not raised any concerns about the proposed 
hardstanding.  Planning officers likewise support this element of the proposal.  The 

Page 49



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

hardstanding is proposed on the very edge of the conservation area, and it would not 
harm the significance of the conservation area.

6.13 Impact on listed buildings and structures

The proposed mirrors would be positioned over 70 metres from the nearest listed 
structure.  With the addition of the hurdle fencing proposed to the rear of the structure, 
the conservation officer and planning officers consider it would not harm the setting of 
nearby listed buildings and structures. 

6.14 The impact on the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

SOCS Policy CSEN1 states that the districts landscape character and key features will 
be protected against inappropriate development and where possible enhanced.  Where 
development is acceptable in principle, measures will be sought to integrate it into the 
landscape character of the area.  High priority will be given to the conservation and 
enhancement of the Chilterns AONB.

6.15 Mirrors

The mirrored structure would measure 2.2 metres in height when measured from the 
land immediately to the front and rear of the structure, although due to level differences 
and the existing riding arena being dug down into the land, the top of the mirrors will sit 
2.6 metres above the level of the riding arena.  The total structure would have a width 
of 20 metres.  However, the structure would not be completely mirrored.  The central 
mirrored panels would be 1.2 metres in height with their tops positioned 2.2 metres 
from the adjacent ground level and only the two end panels would be arranged 
vertically.  

6.16 Whilst the proposed mirrors and their supporting structure would be apparent from 
some public view points, and visible within the landscape generally, planning officers 
consider that the structure would largely have the appearance of a fence and would not 
be out of keeping with the character of the site or harmful to the character of the 
surrounding area including the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  The surface of the 
mirrors would reflect the adjacent trees and surrounding landscape.  They would be of 
limited height and would only be 20 centimetres higher than a fence that could be 
erected in this location using permitted development rights.  

6.17 Concerns have been raised about the potential for glare within the landscape.  A visual 
impact assessment has been submitted by objectors but officers question the accuracy 
of the glare shown in the images which illustrate the mirrors in a similar way to a 
beacon and we consider it to be misleading.  The mirrors would face eastwards and 
would therefore for a limited time reflect the morning sun.  Given the structure will be 
made up of a number of mirrors, likely positioned at very slightly different angles, the 
sun would not be reflected from one large surface at any one time and in the opinion of 
officers glare would therefore be limited.  The mirrors also represent a relatively small 
surface when viewed in the wider landscape and physical features such as the 
woodland to the south, post and rail fence around the riding arena and hedging around 
the paddock would intercept light and further assist with reducing potential glare.

6.18 In the opinion of officers, the mirrors would not be harmful to the character of the site 
nor to the wider landscape.  The mirrored surface will only be visible from public 
viewpoints from substantial distances away where the site is viewed in the wider 
context of the village and where the built form of houses is much more prominent in 
views and the landscape setting.  The hurdle fencing behind the mirror structure would 

Page 50



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

be visible from the village road to the north west but it would appear as any other fence 
and would be partially screened by the post and rail boundary fence, boundary beech 
hedge and proposed silver birches.  Officers consider the proposal would conserve the 
AONB and that measures proposed such as planting to the west and north and hurdle 
fencing will successfully integrate it into the landscape character.  The applicant has 
also offered to implement additional planting to the south of the riding arena to provide 
additional screening.  It is recommended that this is secured by the landscaping 
scheme condition.  

6.19 Hardstanding 

The proposed hard surfacing would be topped with buff coloured self-binding gravel.  
The applicant has indicated that they would accept a condition in relation to the colour 
of the surface if considered necessary.   The previously agreed temporary surface was 
constructed of crushed concrete for which temporary consent was granted because the 
case officer considered the addition of crushed concrete at the edge of the paddock 
would have an impact on the character of this part of the AONB.  The area of 
hardstanding currently proposed would be larger than that previously permitted but 
officers consider the buff gravel would have a lesser impact than the concrete.  The 
surface would not be unusual within the AONB and would in any case be largely 
concealed from wider views by the boundary hedge at the site’s access. 

6.20 The hardstanding will change the immediate character of the site but planning officers 
are satisfied that this element of the proposal is not harmful to the character of the site 
or the surrounding area.  Officers consider the proposed hard surfacing is acceptable 
and would not be harmful to the character of the site or the AONB.
 

6.21 Impact on neighbours

Concerns have been raised by the Parish Council and local residents about the 
potential for noise and disturbance, and loss of view and privacy, as a result of the use 
of the hardstanding to park vehicles in the field.  The nearest property to the 
hardstanding is ‘Fletchers’ and its rear garden adjoins the application site.

6.22 The applicant has confirmed that they do not intend to use the hardstanding to regularly 
park vehicles.  It is required to enable their horse lorry to load horses from the paddock 
and turn within the site.  The vehicle is usually parked to the front of Orchard Close but 
the applicant states that occasionally it is not possible to access the front entrance of 
Orchard Close via the narrow lane due to vehicles parked on the road.  On such 
occasions the horse lorry is parked in the field overnight.  The hardstanding will not 
change the use of the site.  Vehicles can currently be parked in the field occasionally 
without the need for planning permission.  Notwithstanding this, it is not anticipated that 
parking on the hardstanding will become a regular occurrence.  

6.23 The access to the field is pre-existing and the hardstanding will not change the use of 
the field.  Vehicles can currently enter the site, so officers consider that vehicle 
movements and noise will not significantly increase as a result of the proposed 
development and would not be harmful to the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring 
property by the way of noise or light disturbance, or loss of privacy.  The loss of a view 
is not a material planning consideration.

Page 51



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 12 February 2020

6.24 The impact on highway safety

Given the position of the mirrors in relation to the road and their distance from the road, 
officers consider the proposed development would be unlikely to result in harm to 
highway safety as a result of glare.

6.25 Impact on wildlife

A study has been submitted on behalf of objectors as evidence of potential harm that 
light surfaces and mirrors can have on wildlife, including birds and insects.  
The council’s countryside officer has been informally consulted and does not consider 
the mirrors a concern in terms of their impact on wildlife.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Planning officers consider that significant weight should be given to the fallback 

position; that permitted development rights exist so that a two-metre high mirrored 
fence could be erected in the same position as the proposed mirrors without the need 
for express planning permission.  The proposed fence will be 2.2 metres high, and the 
additional 0.2 metre height above the permitted development criteria, and the 
development as a whole, would not in officers’ opinion result in visual or landscape 
harm.

7.2 Planning permission should be granted.  In the opinion of planning officers, the 
proposal complies with the relevant Development Plan Policies and, subject to the 
attached conditions, the proposal would not be detrimental to the character and 
appearance of the site, the conservation area nor the area of outstanding natural 
beauty, and would not harm the setting of listed buildings or structures, would not be 
unneighbourly or harmful to wildlife, and would not be prejudicial to highway safety.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning Permission

1 : Development to be commenced within three years of planning permission
2 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
3 : Materials as specified on the application form
4 : Landscaping scheme to be submitted for approval (to include planting to the 
      west north and south of riding arena, hurdle fencing to the west)

Informative
i : No surface water drainage to highway

Author:  Victoria Clarke
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:        01235 422600

 

Page 52

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 53

Agenda Item 9P19/S0332/FUL



Appendix 2

Page 54

SAV_ClarkeV
Placed Image

SAV_ClarkeV_1
Typewriter
Conservation area

SAV_ClarkeV_2
Line

SAV_ClarkeV_3
Typewriter
Application site



Fletchers

Simeon

Cottage

Sunnym
ede

Broadlands

Cottage

123.1m

Chapel Bartletts

Orchard Close

C
ottage

Home Farm

The Old Post Office

Cottage

122.0m

Existing
Arena

New Orchard (13
heritage fruit trees)

proposed equestrian
training mirrors with
woven fencing to screen
behind

Proposed
Hardstanding

New well established
native Beech hedge
planting to access.
1000mm high in
staggered rows with 1m
high closeboard fence
behind

New Gates to be
constructed under
Permitted
Development

8m

Existing
Tennis
Court

Existing
Woodland

new heritage
fruit trees

PROPOSED LOCATION PLAN 1:1250
ORCHARD CLOSE - BRITWELL SALOME

All dimensions to be verified before work is commenced
All work is to comply with statutory requirements

tel: 01753 859880  .  fax: 01753 857427 . e-mail:
enquiry@danksbadnell.co.uk

D   A   N   K   S B   A   D   N   E   L   L

Proposed Location Plan

Mr. & Mrs. McConkey

1:1250

Orchard Close, Britwell Salome

Oct 19 13/18/002

0

SCALE 1:1250

100m50m

N

Appendix 3

Page 55



Existing Arena

26
00

10.000 GL

Boundary Line

10.383 GL

6000

10.618 GL

12
00

9.590 GL
9.780 GL

Existing 10-12 metre high trees beyond

Equestrian
Training
Mirrors

Hazel Hurdle woven fencing
to screen behind mirrors

Line of new Silver Birch
trees extended up to
existing woodland

Density of existing boundary
hedging to be improved with
new well established native
Beech hedge planting

Proposed
Hardstanding

New Gates to be
constructed
under Permitted
Development

8000

5400

line of existing hedge

Fletchers

existing neighbouring
hedge

Orchard
Close

New well established native
Beech hedge planting to
access.
1000mm high in staggered
rows with 1m high
closeboard fence behind

new heritage
fruit trees

Hardwood gate
posts

20
00

New solid timber boarded
double gates to be constructed
under Permitted Development

5400

20000

26
00 22

20

Hazel hurdle woven fencing to
screen Rear of mirrors

10.000 GL

10.383 GL

26
00

20000

Equestrian training
mirrors

Line of new Silver Birch trees
extended up to existing
woodland

10.000 GL

10.383 GL

D   A   N   K   S 

tel: 01753 859880    .    fax: 01753 857427
Kings Stables  3-4 Osborne Mews Windsor   Berkshire  SL4 3DE

web: www.danksbadnell.co.uk  e-mail: enquiry@danksbadnell.co.uk

B   A   D   N   E   L   L
C  H  A  R  T  E  R  E  D    A  R  C H  I  T  E  C  T  S

CGTF

OX49 5LH

Proposed Gates/Training Mirrors Details

Sept 2019 Varies 13/18/004

Mr. & Mrs. McConkey

Britwell Salome
Orchard Close

PROPOSED ARENA SECTION 1:50
ORCHARD CLOSE - BRITWELL SALOME

NEW GATES PLAN 1:200
ORCHARD CLOSE - BRITWELL SALOME

NEW GATES ELEVATION 1:50
ORCHARD CLOSE - BRITWELL SALOME

PROPOSED WOVEN FENCING 1:50
ORCHARD CLOSE - BRITWELL SALOME

PROPOSED TRAINIING MIRRORS 1:50
ORCHARD CLOSE - BRITWELL SALOME

P
age 56

AutoCAD SHX Text
All dimensions to be verified before work is commenced

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
All work is to comply with statutory requirements

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
revisions

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
drawing title

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
project

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
date

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
for

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
number

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
scale

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
checked



Fletchers

Simeon
CottageBroadlands

Cottage

123.1m

Chapel Bartletts

Orchard Close

Home Farm

Cottage

Existing
Arena6000

Existing
Gate

Existing
Tennis
Court

Line of existing Silver
Birch trees

line of existing hedge

Existing
Woodland

Line of existing
hedging

Fletchers

SimeonCottage

123.1m

Bartletts

Orchard Close

Home Farm

Cottage

Proposed
Hardstanding

Existing
Arena

New Orchard
(13 heritage
fruit trees)

pr
op

os
ed

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 m
irr

or
s

6000

New Gates to be
constructed under
Permitted
Development

80005400

CottageBroadlands Chapel

Existing
Tennis
Court

Refer to drawing
no. 13/18-004
for plan details

Refer to drawing
no. 13/18-004
for section
details

Existing
Woodland

line of existing hedge

New well established
native Beech hedge
planting to access.
1000mm high in
staggered rows with
1m high closeboard
fence behind

new heritage
fruit trees

New Woven fence
to screen rear of
mirrors

Line of new Silver
Birch trees extended
up to existing
woodland

Line of existing Silver
Birch trees

Line of existing
hedging

Density of existing
hedging to be improved
with new well established
native Beech hedge
planting

D   A   N   K   S 

tel: 01753 859880    .    fax: 01753 857427
Kings Stables  3-4 Osborne Mews Windsor   Berkshire  SL4 3DE

web: www.danksbadnell.co.uk  e-mail: enquiry@danksbadnell.co.uk

B   A   D   N   E   L   L
C  H  A  R  T  E  R  E  D    A  R  C H  I  T  E  C  T  S

CGTF

OX49 5LH

Existing & Proposed Gates/Training Mirrors

Sept 2019 1:500@A1 13/18/003

Mr. & Mrs. McConkey

Britwell Salome
Orchard Close

EXISTING SITE PLAN 1:500
ORCHARD CLOSE - BRITWELL SALOME

PROPOSED SITE PLAN 1:500
ORCHARD CLOSE - BRITWELL SALOME

P
age 57

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
All dimensions to be verified before work is commenced

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
All work is to comply with statutory requirements

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
revisions

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
drawing title

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
project

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
date

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
for

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
number

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
scale

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
checked



IN THE MATTER OF LAND AT 

ORCHARD CLOSE, BRITWELL 

SALOME, WATLINGTON 

OPINION 

Danks Badnell Architects Ltd 

Kings Stables 

3-4 Osborne Mews 

Windsor SL4 3DE 

Appendix 4

Page 58



IN THE MATTER OF LAND AT ORCHARD CLOSE, BRITWELL SALOME, WATLINGTON 

 

 

 

OPINION 

 

 

 

1. I am asked to advise Mr and Mrs McConkey on whether it would be possible to erect 

mirrors on one side of a menage at the above premises under Class A of Part 2 of 

Schedule 2 of the GPDO.   I am asked to assume that the structure would not exceed 

2m in height.  The mirrors are needed to assist in training for dressage.  The menage 

is already surrounded by a post and rail fence. 

 

2. Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the GPDO grants deemed planning permission for 

the erection of ‘a gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure’, subject to height and 

other restrictions.  Plainly not all long thin rectangular vertical structures count as 

fences or walls: it has been established that, to constitute a ‘wall’ within Class A of Part 

2 a structure must have some enclosing function - and I would say that the same must 

apply to a ‘fence’ within the Class.  Thus in Prengate Properties v Secretary of State 

(1973) 25 P&CR 311 it was stated that the deemed consent would not apply ‘to 

someone who places a free standing wall in the middle of his garden in circumstances 

in which the wall neither encloses nor plays any part in the enclosure of anything.’   

(Incidentally I think that the true nature of the requirement is not so much enclosure as 

separation: many structures which are undoubtedly walls and fences are linear, and 

while they often separate different areas, they hardly ‘enclose’ anything.)  

 

3. I think that there are two issues which need to be considered in the present case: first, 

whether the proposed mirrors would have any enclosing function at all and second, if 

they would, whether it matters that they would undoubtedly have an additional function, 

namely to provide a reflected image. 

 

 

Enclosing function 

 

4. It would be important to avoid a situation where the finished structure could be 

analysed as mirrors attached to a fence or wall.  In such a situation it would be easy to 

Page 59



argue that it was the fence or wall alone which did the separating/enclosing.  Thus I do 

not consider that mirrors could simply be fixed to the existing post and rail fence.  

Similarly I do not consider that it would be acceptable to remove the existing fence and 

erect, as part of a single operation, a new structure consisting of a fence with mirrors 

attached.  I would analyse this as the construction of a structure which was something 

more than simply a fence/means of enclosure – particularly if the structure was capable 

of providing enclosure without the mirrors.   

 

5. In each of the above situations it would be possible to distinguish between the 

wall/fence and the mirrors.  This would not be possible if the mirrors themselves 

provide the relevant enclosure, as is suggested by the sketch provided to me.  I 

consider that, if a structure like this were to replace the existing post and rail fence 

along one side of the menage, it would fulfill an enclosing function of the kind required 

by the GPDO.   

 

 

Dual function 

 

6. The structure suggested by the sketch would have two functions – enclosure and the 

creation of a reflected image.  Whether structures with a dual purpose can be fences, 

walls or other means of enclosure within Part 2 has been considered in two cases.  In 

Prengate (supra) a wall had been built around half of the boundary of a site: it was 

intended to fill the enclosed area with soil to create a terrace – ie the intention was that 

the wall should function as a retaining wall.  The court held that the wall was permitted 

development despite having the dual purpose of enclosure and retention.  In R 

(Dennis) v Sevenoaks District Council [2005] 2 P&CR 4 a farmer proposed to construct 

a silage clamp on a concrete base with ‘walls on the eastern and southern sides, 13 

and 35m long respectively … to be constructed of railway sleepers laid horizontally 

between vertical 2m high steel channels’.  The western side was to be left open and 

the northern side was to be formed by an existing structure.  At one stage there was 

an application for planning permission, but the local planning authority eventually 

decided that the sleepers constituted a wall and were permitted development.  This 

decision was quashed, for two reasons.  First, the authority should have considered 

the sleepers and the base together.  One aspect of this was that, if the sleepers and 

base together constituted a ‘building’, the sleepers could not be a wall, fence or other 

means of enclosure, given the defintion of ‘building’ in the GDPO.  Second, even if it 

Page 60



was legitimate to consider the sleepers in isolation, the authority had taken a wrong 

approach to their purpose. Sullivan J said, at paragraphs 50-54 –  

 

50.  … I accept that the starting point is Prengate, but the defendant’s bald 
submission that “where a wall has the dual purpose of enclosure and retention 
it remains a means of enclosure” is unduly simplistic.  All relevant 
circumstances must be considered and the decision in each case will be fact 
sensitive depending very much on the nature and location of the wall in 
question.  In Prengate … Lord Widgery was not saying that every wall which 
enclosed and retained would necessarily fall within (what is now) Class A in 
Part 2 of the Order: 

 
“It does not seem to me that a wall which encloses and a wall which 
retains are necessarily two different things, and one might have, as 
[counsel for the appellant] said, certain walls with a kind of hybrid 
function in enclosing and retaining.”  

 
 

51.  Lord Widgery then went on to deal with what he described as the “real 
substance” of the contention put forward on behalf of the Secretary of State.  
The real substance was this. The wall had to be looked at as at the date of the 
enforcement notice (see page 315).   At that date it was simply an enclosing 
wall and was “not playing any part as a retaining wall” (see page 313).  The 
landowner’s intention to import soil in the future did not take the wall out of 
(what is now) Class A in Part 2 of the Order.  The circumstances in the present 
case are quite different.  The two walls do not enclose Mr Vicary’s land.  In so 
far as they enclose anything they enclose the floor of the silage pit.  Accepting 
that means of enclosure within a larger landholding are permitted by Class A in 
Part 2 of the Order (eg to sub-divide the holding), the location of a wall within a 
landholding may well be one of the relevant factors in deciding whether it can 
sensibly be described as a means of enclosure.  In addition … its proposed 
function within the landholding may also be relevant. 

 
52..  … It is plain … that what Mr Vicary was seeking to construct was not a 
means of enclosure but, as described in the application for planning 
permission, an above ground “pit” in which to contain silage.  It could be said 
that the walls of such a “pit” would enclose the material that was deposited 
within them, but in that respect they would be no different from the walls of an 
open tank which was to be placed on (or sunk into) the ground.  Their function 
would be precisely the same.  Any wall forming part of a building might be said 
to enclose the space within the building, but it would still be “part of a building”, 
not a “means of enclosure” for the purposes of Article 1(1) of the Order.  In the 
present case it was open to the defendant to conclude that this was the only 
sense in which the two walls enclosed anything. 

 
53.  In deciding whether a wall can reasonably be described as a means of 
enclosure, rather than as part of a building (as defined by Article 1(1) of the 
Order), it must also be relevant to consider the nature of the proposed 
construction.  In the present case the walls would be built of sleepers laid 
horizontally between 2-metre high steel channel uprights.  …  Applying a 
measure of common sense, such a substantial mode of construction is not 
required for the purpose of enclosure — for example, to prevent the cows in 
the collecting yard from reaching the silage — it is required because it has to 

Page 61



retain a heavy weight of silage within the “pit”. 
 

54.  In these circumstances it was at least open to the defendant to conclude 
that as a matter of fact and degree the proposed walls, even if viewed in 
isolation, were part of a building, “a structure or erection”, to hold silage, and 
that any enclosing function was purely incidental to that primary function, or so 
slight that, as a matter of fact and degree, the construction of the walls fell more 
naturally within Class A2(2) in Part 6 [agricultural buildings] of the Order, rather 
than Class A in Part 2.  These factual issues have not been properly considered 
by the defendant.  It would appear that the defendant proceeded upon the basis 
that so long as the walls could be said to perform some enclosing function, then 
they automatically fell within Class A in Part 2.  For the reasons given above, I 
do not accept that Prengate is authority for such a mechanistic approach.  
Some walls may have a hybrid function; whether these particular walls would 
have such a function was very much a matter of fact and degree which should 
have been, but was not, addressed by the defendant, having regard to their 
particular characteristics as described above. 
 
[Italics added] 

 

 

7. I have not found any judicial consideration of these questions since Dennis. 

 

8. Applying the above reasoning to what is proposed in the present case I comment as 

follows. 

 

a. Dennis was not really a case about a structure with a dual function.  The 

sleepers had only one function - to hold silage.  Paragraph 52 and the first part 

of paragraph 54 show that they had no proper enclosing function at all.   

 

b. Not all structures which genuinely have dual functions, one being enclosure, 

fall within the GPDO.  It is necessary to ask whether the structure ‘can sensibly 

be described as a means of enclosure’, a question of fact and degree 

depending on ‘the nature of the wall’, ‘the nature of the proposed construction’, 

the location of the wall etc within the landholding and its proposed function 

within the landholding.  I think that it is sensible for the law to allow some 

flexibility on this question - although it makes it difficult to predict what 

structures will be regarded as falling within the GPDO by planning authorities.   

 

c. In Dennis it was possible that the sleepers would be part of a wider building 

operation.  This possibility does not exist in the present case.  However I do 

not consider that this point really matters: the fact that no ‘building’ will be 

involved does not mean that the problem of the dual function goes away.   

Page 62



 

 

9. Applying the reasoning in Dennis, the suggestion shown on the sketch in the present 

case would genuinely have a dual function, one being enclosure: the enclosing function 

would not be slight or incidental.  The mere existence of the second function would not 

itself be fatal.  As to whether the proposed structure could sensibly be described as a 

‘means of enclosure’, the location of the structure within the landholding would be 

consistent with it being a means of enclosure – it would replace an existing means of 

enclosure and the menage plainly needs enclosure of some kind.  Further, apart from 

the mirrored surface, the nature of the proposed construction would be that of a wall 

or a means of enclosure – indeed, seen from the rear, no-one would imagine that it 

was anything else.  On the other hand, a mirrored surface does not suggest a structure 

in the nature of a means of enclosure and mirrors are not the obvious mode of 

construction for a structure intended to prevent horses from escaping.  I can therefore 

see scope for different lawful conclusions about this.  I note that in Prengate the 

structure was sensibly described as a ‘wall’.  But what qualities does a structure have 

to have to be sensibly described as an ‘other means of enclosure’ – ie a means of 

enclosure which is neither a wall nor a fence?  If, as is clearly the case, a barrier of 

glass panels can be a means of enclosure, why is the test not capable of being satisfied 

by a barrier of mirror panels.  I can envisage a situation where mirrors are angled to 

reflect the sky, for the purpose of providing a barrier (ie a means of separation and 

therefore enclosure) which is visually pleasing.  Further, my reading of Dennis is that 

the local planning authority might have been able to decide that the sleepers would fall 

within the GPDO if it had specifically considered the method of construction (and the 

other issues identified). I would say that the structure in Dennis was less like a means 

of enclosure than what is suggested in the present case. 

  

10. I therefore think that a planning authority could lawfully decide that what is suggested 

in the present case would be permitted development.  It would be advisable to 

ascertain the view of the local planning authority before erecting the mirrors: complete 

certainty would require an application for a CLOPUD.  If an approach to the local 

planning authority is made, it would be sensible to explain the legal position as set out 

above.  

 

 

Page 63



 

 

RICHARD LANGHAM  

Landmark Chambers  

180 Fleet Street  

LONDON EC4A 2HG  

 

25 November 2019 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2894/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 18.9.2019
PARISH EYE & DUNSDEN
WARD MEMBERS Leigh Rawlins

David Bartholomew
APPLICANT Kierish Developments Ltd
SITE Land to the south of Foxhill Close, Playhatch
PROPOSAL Erection of two-storey four-bedroom detached 

house with associated car port and parking (updated 
flood risk assessment and site and street scene 
plans corrected to accurately reflect previously 
approved landscaping received 21st November 
2019 and site plan updated to move hedge on north-
western boundary next to estate road as shown on 
amended plan received 22nd January 2020).

OFFICER Paul Lucas

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted. This report explains how 

officers have reached this conclusion. The application is referred to Planning 
Committee due to Eye & Dunsden Parish Council’s objection.

1.2 The application site is identified at Appendix A. The application site is located within 
the built-up confines of Playhatch and forms the south-eastern part of a previously 
undeveloped rectangular parcel of agricultural land where a residential development 
of four dwellings is now under construction. The site lies to the south-east of the 
approved vehicular access for the approved development. The current application site 
was shown to be left undeveloped within the approved development. In addition to the 
dwellings under construction to the north-west, the site is bordered to the south-east 
by 2 Vine Cottages, one half of a pair of two-storey semis. The Shoulder of Mutton 
public house is located opposite the site to the south-west. 1&2 Playhatch Cottages 
are a pair of Grade II listed buildings to the north of the public house. There is 
undeveloped agricultural land to the north-east of the site. According to large scale 
mapping, the site lies partially within Flood Zone 1 and partially within Flood Zone 2. 
There are no other special designations on this site.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a detached two storey 

4-bedroom dwelling and detached car port and formation of off-street parking, as shown 
on the current plans and supporting documents submitted with the application. The 
boundary treatment along the north-western side boundary has been amended and 
there is an additional technical note with the latest November 2019 Environment 
Agency flood modelling data. 

2.2 Copies of the current plans are provided at Appendix B whilst other documentation 
associated with the application can be viewed on the Council’s website.

Page 65

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2894/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S2894/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Eye and Dunsden Parish Council – Objection:

1. The proposed property appears to lie within Flood Zone 2 of the Flood Plain
by reference to the Environment Agency website.
2. The original application for 4 properties identified the area now proposed for
the 5th house as an open green space in order to partly mitigate the loss of the
overall undeveloped site. The PC believes that this area should remain as a
green space.
3. The PC believes that the 4 initial properties, largely now completed, already
extend beyond the curtilage of the permitted development.
4. Although not completed the existing development appears to disregard a
requirement for a pedestrian footpath to be created along the border of the road
through Playhatch.

Drainage - (South&Vale) – Initial holding objection overcome through the submission 
of up to date data – no objection subject to surface water drainage pre-commencement 
condition.

Environment Agency – Do not wish to be consulted on this category of application.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection subject to 
parking conditions

Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No objection subject to 
landscaping condition

County Archaeological Services (SODC) - No objection.

Local Residents – Seven representations of objection and concern, summarised as 
follows:

 Site lies within Flood Zone 2, resulting in loss of flood plain and surface 
drainage capacity in an area that already suffers from fluvial and surface water 
flooding.

 A fifth house would represent a further overdevelopment of the wider site, by 
increasing the density and plot ratios.

 Out of keeping with surrounding houses, resulting in additional urbanisation of 
the village.

 Loss of open amenity space retained to offset visual impact of development of 
four dwellings.

 Insufficient off-street parking for a 4-bedroom dwelling, adding to concerns 
about increased on-street parking and highway safety risk.

 Loss of light and outlook to No.2 Vine Cottages.
 Should wait at least 12 months for impact of four dwellings to be realised before 

adding further housing.
 Various problems caused during the construction of the four houses have been 

documented. [these have been referred to the relevant enforcement authorities]
 Improvements to the landscaping around the four houses should be secured 

before planning permission is granted for a fifth house.

These representations can be read in full on the Council’s website.

Page 66

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P19/S2894/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S0018/RM - Approved (24/08/2018)

Reserved Matters application following outline planning permission P16/S3399/O for 
the approval of layout, appearance, scale and landscaping of four dwellings (layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping revised as shown on amended plans and drainage 
statement received 12th April 2018 and parking and landscaping layout revised as 
shown on amended plans and revised Flood Risk Assessment received 12th July 
2018).

P16/S3399/O - Approved (03/03/2017)
Outline application with all matters except for access reserved for the erection of up to 
four dwellings (amended access position as shown on amended plans received 11th 
January 2017).

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSH2 – Housing Density
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSM1  -  Transport
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G5  -  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

Page 67

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0018/RM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3399/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

5.3 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034
On 10th October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) - Section 7 – Plots & Buildings

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
The policies within the SOCS and the SOLP 2011 of relevance to this application are 
considered to be in general conformity with the provisions of the NPPF and NPPG and 
therefore this application can be determined against the relevant policies above.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The planning issues that are relevant to this application are whether the development 

would:
 Be in accordance with the Council’s strategy for the distribution of housing;
 Result in a loss of floodplain or surface water drainage capacity;
 Be in keeping with the character and appearance of the surroundings and 

maintain the setting of the nearby listed buildings;
 Safeguard the living conditions of neighbouring residential occupiers and 

provide suitable living conditions for future occupiers;
 Demonstrate safe and convenient access and adequate off-street parking 

provision for the development; and
 Give rise to any other material planning considerations.

6.2 Principle of Development
Within Appendix 4 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Playhatch is listed 
as a ‘smaller village’. Within such settlements Policy CSR1 of the SOCS allows for infill 
housing development up to the equivalent of 5-6 dwellings on sites of up to 0.2 ha. Infill 
is defined as ‘the filling of a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or on other sites 
within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by buildings’. The application 
site is located within the built-up confines of the settlement, with housing located on 
three sides. The site has an area of about 0.04 hectares and even when combined with 
the adjoining residential development, the total developed area would not exceed 0.2 
hectares. In these circumstances the development of the site with a dwelling would 
accord with the definition of infilling set out under Policy CSR1.

6.3 Flooding and Drainage
Paragraph 158 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes it clear that 
the Sequential Test must be applied when assessing proposals for development in the 
flood plain (Flood Zones 2 & 3). Part of the site lies within Flood Zone 2. The applicant 
has provided a Flood Risk Assessment and accompanying technical note, which 
contains detailed modelling to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Council’s Flood 
Risk and Drainage Engineer (FRDE) that the proposed dwelling would be sited above 
the flood level of 36.59 metres AoD and therefore entirely within Flood Zone 1. This is 
shown on the detailed drainage plan submitted with P18/S3960/DIS, which can be 
found at Appendix C. Although the carport would be located within Flood Zone 2, this 
is acceptable as it would not be fully enclosed. Consequently, flood plain compensation 
is not required.

Page 68

http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PA_Summary.jsp?REF=P18/S3960/DIS


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

6.4 Local residents have raised concerns about the impact of the development on existing 
drainage conditions. The FRDE has commented that surface water flooding on the 
highway would appear to be associated with run off along Foxhill Lane overwhelming 
the highway drainage system approximately 15 metres downstream of the site. They 
have verified that there is no runoff from the site onto the highway. Thames Water’s foul 
pumping station is allegedly being inundated by surface water but there is no evidence 
to suggest any surface water connections have been made to it by this site. Further to 
the above, there is no evidence to suggest that surface water drainage has been 
connected to either the OCC highway drainage system or the Thames Water sewer.

6.5 In relation to the proposed surface water drainage scheme, the site investigation 
provided an infiltration rate of 1.41 x 10-5, which is regarded as very good. 
Furthermore, the ground water table was encountered at a depth of 2.85 metres 
meaning that the base of any infiltration system can be sited up to 1.85 metres below 
ground.  The FRDE has recommended that a surface water drainage pre-
commencement planning condition be attached to any permission, so that the applicant 
can evidence that the approved system can accommodate the additional property for 
the 1% + 40% storm event or whether they need to increase the size of soakaway. On 
this basis, the proposed development would be in accordance with national guidance in 
relation to flooding and drainage.

6.6 Loss of Open Space
Criterion (i) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that an important open space of 
public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt. 
The site is presently undeveloped, but there is no public access to it. The Countryside 
Officer had previously recommended a condition to address any potential impact on 
ecological habitats and this can be repeated for this application. In any public views of 
the site from Playhatch Road and Foxhill Close, the site is seen in the context of 
established residential plots south-east and west of the site fronting onto Playhatch 
Road and the new dwellings under construction to the north of the site. Views towards 
the countryside to the north-east are therefore limited. The parish council and local 
residents consider that this open space is required to be retained to offset the density of 
the dwellings already under construction. However, officers do not concur with this 
view, because the combined density would comply with the minimum 25 dwellings per 
hectare set out in the SOCS Policy CSH2 and note that the landscaping previously 
proposed along the application site’s road frontage and north-western boundary with 
the access road would still be achievable under the current proposal. This criterion 
would therefore be satisfied.

6.7 Visual Impact
Criterion (ii) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that the design, height, scale and 
materials of the proposed development are in keeping with its surroundings and 
criterion (iii) requires that the character of the area is not affected. Policies CSQ3 of the 
SOCS and D1 of the SOLP 2011 expand upon the requirement for good design. Policy 
CSEN1 aims to ensure that the District’s landscape is protected. The SOCS Policy 
CSEN3 seeks to preserve or enhance the District's designated heritage assets, 
including conservation areas and listed buildings. The SOLP 2011 Policy CON5 sets 
out the Council’s statutory duty to protect the setting of listed buildings.

6.8 The proposed dwelling would be located further to the south-east from 1 & 2 Playhatch 
Cottages compared with the frontage dwellings under construction and consequently 
would not have any discernible impact on the setting of these Grade II listed buildings. 

Page 69



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

6.9 The footprint of the proposed dwelling would be broadly in line with the frontage of the 
new dwellings to the north-west and 2 Vine Cottages to the south-east. It would have a 
ridge height in between the higher level of the new dwellings and the lower level of 2 
Vine Cottages. The proposed dwelling would have a smaller footprint than the dwellings 
to the north and more generous front and rear garden areas in comparison with the 
other plots in the new development. The roof pitch would be typical of the area and 
would enable clay tiles to be used. The proposed dwelling would have proportions that 
would sufficiently reflect the vernacular of this part of the District through the inclusion 
of traditional features and materials. The single carport would be a modest structure, in 
keeping with its subservience to the dwelling. A detailed schedule of external materials 
is required to be submitted for agreement prior to their use in construction. The 
Council’s Tree Officer considers that there is sufficient scope to enable a detailed 
landscaping scheme to be agreed through a planning condition to appropriately soften 
the appearance of the additional dwelling. A general tree protection pre-
commencement condition is also required to ensure the retention of the off-site trees 
and hedging along the boundary with 2 Vine Cottages. In the light of the above 
assessment, the proposal would comply with the above criteria.

6.10 Residential Amenity Impact
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
amenity objections. Policy D4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that all new dwellings should 
be designed and laid out to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers. 
The proposed dwelling would have no windows in the first-floor side elevations.
No.2 Vine Cottages has ground and first floor windows on its north-western side 
elevation facing towards the site. These would be at a closest distance of 10 metres to 
the boundary and 12 metres to the side wall of the proposed dwelling. Given these 
distances and that it appears that the rooms affected also have openings on the front 
and rear elevations, the relationship between the two dwellings would be acceptable in 
terms of light, outlook and privacy. Similarly, there would be around 10 metres between 
the first-floor south-east facing window of the new dwelling to the north and the side 
elevation and garden of the proposed dwelling, which also indicates an acceptable 
relationship. The rear garden area and depth would comply with the respective 100 
square metre and 10 metres recommended minimum dimensions as set out in Section 
7 of the SODG 2016. Based on the above assessment, the proposed development 
would accord with the above policies.

6.11 Access and Parking
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 also requires that there are no overriding 
highway objections. Policy T1 of the SOLP 2011 seeks to ensure that all new 
development would provide a safe and convenient access for all users of the highway. 
The proposed dwelling would utilise the existing access and would provide three off-
street parking spaces at the rear. The proposal would not reduce the parking and 
turning areas available to the other four dwellings. The Highway Liaison Officer has 
raised no objection to the proposed development subject to conditions requiring the 
retention of the carport, parking and turning areas as approved.

6.12 Other Material Planning Considerations
The proposal would provide an additional four-bedroom dwelling. The development as 
a whole would provide two, three and four bedroom properties, thereby continuing to 
provide for the house types in greatest need across the District, in general conformity 
with the requirements of the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment April 
2014.

Page 70



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 12 February 2020

6.13 Issues raised in connection with the implementation of the four-dwelling development 
are separate matters that have been referred to the relevant authorities for 
investigation. It is beyond the scope of this application to require the applicant to make 
changes to details approved under applications P18/S0018/RM and P18/S3960/DIS 
relating to land outside of the current application site.

6.14 Community Infrastructure Levy
The proposed dwelling is liable for the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The CIL 
charge applied to new residential development in this case is £150 (index linked) per 
square metre of additional floorspace (Zone 1). 15% of the CIL payment would go Eye 
and Dunsden Parish Council in the absence of an adopted Neighbourhood Plan. In this 
way, the development would contribute towards local infrastructure projects for the 
benefit of the village community.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application proposal would comply with the relevant Development Plan Policies, 

Supplementary Planning Guidance and Government Guidance and it is considered 
that, subject to the attached conditions, the proposed development would be in 
accordance with the Council’s strategy for the distribution of housing, would not 
increase the risk of flooding, would be in keeping with the character and appearance of 
the area and respect the setting of nearby Grade II listed buildings. It would also 
safeguard the living conditions of nearby residents and would not result in conditions 
prejudicial to highway safety.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1 :  Commencement of development within three years 
2 :  Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
3 :  No change in levels
4 :  Schedule of Materials to be agreed prior to development above foundation 
      level 
5 : Landscaping details to be agreed prior to development above foundation level 
6 : Tree protection details to be agreed prior to commencement
7 :  Parking & Manoeuvring Areas to be retained as shown on the approved plans 
8 :  Surface water drainage works to be agreed prior to commencement
9 :  Withdrawal of Permitted Development Rights for extensions and outbuildings 
10 : No carport conversion into accommodation
11 : Wildlife Protection mitigation to be carried out as approved 

Author: Paul Lucas
Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

 

Page 71

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0018/RM
http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PA_Summary.jsp?REF=P18/S3960/DIS
mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 10
P

19/S
2894/FU

L



Additional parking space

Proposed new tree planting as
approved under P18/S0018/RM

FOXHILL
CLOSE

Existing hedge

Approximate position
neighbouring trees

PLAYHATCH

New connection into foul manhole for
adjacent development

PLOT 5

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

PLOT 3

PLOT 4

A
B

C

D

E

V
V

Proposed additional house

Proposed new tree planting
as approved under
P18/S0018/RM

Access as approved
under P18/S0018/RM

Proposed new single car port
with parking space in front

SLOW

SLOW

37.000

36.560

36.700

36.400

36.425

36.700

36.750

37.770

36.880

37.000

37.100

36.910

F.F.L.-36.900

F.F.L.-36.900

F.F.L.-37.100

F.F.L.-37.500

36.750

36.750

36.950

37.350

37.350

36.950

37.190

37.350

F.F.L.-36.900

36.900

36.737

36.800

36.653

36.588

36.750
36.778

0m
Scale

10m 20m 30m 40m 50m

JAS

PLANNING

1:500

Kierish Developments Ltd

Land at Playhatch,
Reading,
Berks, RG4 9QS.

Site layout for 1no. house.

03.09.18

0420 PL18 E
NOTE: The size of the buildings
shown are the footprint sizes on the
ground and allowance should be
made for additional overhang of the
roof.

Rev Comment DateBy

This drawing remains the property of Think
Architecture Consultants Limited and shall not

be copied without prior written consent.

Client:

Address:

Drawing title:

Date Drawn:

Job No: Drg No: Rev:

Drawn by:

Status:

Scale:

A Re-design. 17.01.19JAS
B Trees amended. 12.11.19JAS
C Trees added. 20.11.19JAS
D Trees moved. 22.11.19JAS
E Hedge and footpath swapped over. 22.01.20JAS

A3

CONSULTANTS LIMITED
The Studio, 6 The Drive, Oakley,

Hampshire, RG23 7DA.
Tel: 01256 781221

Email: julie@thinkarchitecture.biz
www.thinkarchitecture.biz

Appendix B

P
age 74



P
age 75



P
age 76



P
age 77



PLOT 1 - TYPE D PLOT 2 - TYPE C Proposed additional plot - TYPE E - PLOT 5 VINE COTTAGES

0m
1:200 Scale

5m 10m 15m 20m 25m

JAS

PLANNING

1:200

Kierish Developments Ltd

Land at Foxhill Lane,
Playhatch.

Street Scene showing
Additional Plot.

17.01.19

0420 PL21 D

STREET SCENE SHOWING ADDITIONAL PLOT

A3

CONSULTANTS LIMITED
The Studio, 6 The Drive, Oakley,

Hampshire, RG23 7DA.
Tel: 01256 781221

Email: julie@thinkarchitecture.biz
www.thinkarchitecture.biz

Rev Comment DateBy

This drawing remains the property of Think
Architecture Consultants Limited and shall not

be copied without prior written consent.

Client:

Address:

Drawing title:

Date Drawn:

Job No: Drg No: Rev:

Drawn by:

Status:

Scale:

A Updated to suit latest design. 05.09.19JAS
B Vegetation added. 13.11.19JAS
C Vegetation added. Hedge raised. 20.11.19JAS
D Trees moved. 22.11.19JAS

P
age 78



Appendix C

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 P19/S4030/O - Recreation Field, Station Road, Cholsey
	Appendices 1-2
	1 GIS Map
	Location Plan drwgno LOC 001


	8 P19/S3220/FUL - Land off Old London Road, Wheatley
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 Location plan
	Appendix 2. 1. Site Plan Proposed drwgno WHTLY-PSP-001
	Appendix 2. 2 Elevation - AA Plan drwgno WHTLY-EL-001
	Appendix 2. 3 Transformer Plans drwgno TR-01
	Appendix 2. 4 DNO Room Plans drwgno DNO-01
	Appendix 2. 5 Lube Oil Tank Plans drwgno LOT-01
	Appendix 2. 6. Paladin Fence Plans drwgno PAL-01
	Appendix 2. 7 Switchroom Plans drwgno SR-01
	Appendix 2. 8. Welfare Cabin Plans drwgno WC-01


	9 P19/S0332/FUL - Orchard Close Settlement Road, running west from T Junction and the Old Post Office, Britwell Salome, OX49 5LH
	Appendices 1-4
	1 Location Plan
	2 Conservation Area
	3a Proposed Location Plan drwgno 13-18-002
	Sheets and Views
	13-18-002 Pr Loc Plan


	3b Proposed Training Mirrors drwgno 13-18-004
	Sheets and Views
	13-18-004-Details


	3c Proposed landscaping drwgno 13-18-003
	Sheets and Views
	13-18-003-Site Plans


	4 Legal Opinion


	10 P19/S2894/FUL - Land to the South of Foxhill Close, Playhatch
	Appendices A-C
	1 Location Plan drwgno PL01A
	2 Site Layout drwgno PL18E
	2a Floor Plans drwgno PL19B
	2b Elevations drwgno PL20B
	2c Car Port Floor and Elevations drwgno PL22
	2d Street Scene drwgno PL21D
	3 Approved Drainage Scheme with Levels





